Serious Legal Problems faced by Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Other Sexual-Minority People in Western Canada: A Qualitative Study

Community-Based Research Centre

2021



Information contained in this publication or product may be reproduced, in part or in whole, and by any means, for personal or public non-commercial purposes, without charge or further permission, unless otherwise specified.

You are asked to:

- exercise due diligence in ensuring the accuracy of the materials reproduced;
- indicate both the complete title of the materials reproduced, as well as the author organization; and
- indicate that the reproduction is a copy of an official work that is published by the Government of Canada and that the reproduction has not been produced in affiliation with, or with the endorsement of the Government of Canada.

Commercial reproduction and distribution is prohibited except with written permission from the Department of Justice Canada. For more information, please contact the Department of Justice Canada at: www.justice.gc.ca

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Justice and Attorney General of Canada, 2021

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
Context & Approach	4
Key Findings	4
Conclusions & Recommendations	5
BACKGROUND	6
METHODOLOGY	10
FINDINGS	12
Table 1: Sociodemographic characteristics of study sample	14
Types of Legal Issues Reported by Participants	15
Structural Factors Contributing to Legal Problems	21
Resolutions and Barriers to Legal Problems	28
Supportive Factors Identified by Participants	36
Perceptions of the Legal System	39
Impacts of Legal Problems	42
Gaps and Opportunities Identified by Participants	46
CONCLUSIONS	49
Limitations	51
Glossary	53
References	55
APPENDIX A: RECRUITMENT SCRIPT AND ELIGIBILITY SCREENER	63
APPENDIX B: INDIVIDUAL INTERVIEW CONSENT AGREEMENT	71
APPENDIX C: INTERVIEW GUIDE	77

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Context & Approach

While there have been major strides in legal protections for lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer, Two-Spirit, and other sexual-minority people in Canada, sexual minorities continue to face serious legal challenges, including discrimination and systemic exclusions within health systems, workplaces, housing, immigration systems, family law and adoption systems, and police and criminal justice systems. In order to better understand these persistent legal challenges, the Community-Based Research Centre (CBRC) conducted 21 qualitative interviews with sexual-minority people who had recently experienced a serious legal problem in British Columbia, Alberta, and Manitoba to explore the types of legal problems, barriers to justice, and impacts of legal issues experienced by sexual-minority people in Western Canada.

Key Findings

Participants discussed a wide variety of legal problems, including workplace discrimination, family law, immigration and refugee law, human rights law, criminal law, and the prison system. Participants discussed discrimination in a variety of settings, including employment, health systems, and educational institutions.

The legal problems faced by participants were often rooted in systems of racism, settler colonialism, homophobia, transphobia, and cisheterosexism (N.B., a glossary of key terms is included at the end of the report). These structural factors contributed to participants pursuing legal recourse and shaped their legal experiences. Indigenous participants positioned legal systems within histories of colonial violence, which rendered these systems inherently harmful. Homophobia and transphobia contributed to barriers in accessing legal resources, verbal harassment, stereotypes, dehumanization, and bullying within legal processes. Participants also noted how cisheterosexism contributed to the erasure of queer and trans people and the presumption of legal actors who were cisgender, heterosexual, monogamously coupled, and part of nuclear family structures.

Participants experienced several different barriers when attempting to resolve their legal issues, including lack of clarity about legal systems and processes, financial barriers, the disproportionate burden of proof placed on participants, and lack of response or slow timelines within legal processes. Ultimately, these forced many participants to advocate for themselves within legal systems. These barriers contributed to participants' lack of optimism for positive outcomes within legal processes. Participants also identified supportive factors that contributed to their ability to resolve and/or cope with their legal issues, including support from an LGBTQ2+ advocate, their family and community, and their workplace. Experiences with the legal system and/or unsatisfactory resolutions to legal issues had far-reaching impacts on participants' lives, including on their finances, employment and career prospects, social life, and mental and emotional well-being.

Conclusions & Recommendations

The findings suggest that sexual-minority individuals experience limited access to adequate legal assistance and encounter additional barriers to justice relative to cisgender heterosexual individuals. Our findings indicate that access to justice for sexual-minority people will be enhanced by efforts to:

- provide access to legal representation by professionals who are sexual- and genderminority people themselves and/or who understand the unique challenges facing diverse sexual- and gender-minority communities;
- 2) uplift community and informal support systems for individuals who lack adequate access to legal resources;
- provide access to holistic support services, including mental health support services, for sexual- and gender-minority people who have become engaged in legal processes;
- address the financial burden and barriers associated with securing legal counsel,
 particularly for those with limited resources;

- 5) acknowledge and uproot the legal system's colonial impacts on the lives of Indigenous Two-Spirit and other sexual- or gender-minority people;
- 6) deconstruct systemic, cultural, and structural barriers, such as homophobia, transphobia, and racism that ultimately produce many legal problems and the disenfranchisement of sexual- and gender-minority people;
- 7) explore decarceral and/or restorative justice approaches for sexual- and genderminority people who have become engaged in legal processes;
- 8) provide resources for legal professionals (e.g., lawyers, judges, paralegals) on the experiences of sexual- and gender-minority communities including topics on pronoun use, HIV stigma, transphobia, homophobia, cisheterosexism, settler colonialism, and structural racism;
- 9) produce resources specifically for sexual- and gender-minority people that make complex legal processes more transparent for those who need to navigate this system. These resources should include information on sexual- and gender-minority people's rights when engaging legal systems and avenues for redress if they feel that their rights have been transgressed;
- 10) provide resources on the human rights bodies in each province, the issues they cover, how to access them, and what outcomes can be sought through them.

BACKGROUND

Since the partial decriminalization of private same-sex sexual activity between two consenting adults in Canada in 1969, lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer, and other sexual-minority people have gained a variety of legal rights through Canada's justice system. Prior to 1969, same-sex sexual activity between consenting adults was criminalized and could lead to indefinite imprisonment of those who engaged in these activities [1–3]. Sexual-minority people were targeted, fired from public service jobs, and subjected to police surveillance and harassment, including raids on queer spaces, such as bars and bathhouses, for over three decades. [1–2; 4–5].

While progress has been marginal, strides have been made towards greater legal protections and equity for sexual minorities in Canada, including the introduction of human rights and antidiscrimination protections, the removal of the ban on sexual-minority people serving in Canada's military, improved spousal and parental rights, and the legalization of same-sex marriage nationwide in 2005 [2;3;5–7]. Many of these advances in sexual-minority rights have come directly through appeals to Canada's justice system [3;6;7]. However, the limited existing evidence suggests that sexual-minority people still face serious legal challenges in Canada, including in health and social services, employment, housing, immigration, family law, and criminal justice.

Barriers and discrimination within various health systems for sexual-minority people include negative experiences within, and systemic exclusions from, healthcare settings that contribute to unmet health needs relative to heterosexual populations [8–9]. Sexual-minority people report disproportionate burdens in access to mental health services, which frequently fail to acknowledge experiences of marginalization as drivers of mental distress [10;11]. Sexual-minority youth and sexual minority people living in remote areas of Canada are particularly vulnerable to discrimination in health and social services [12–14]. Finally, gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men also continue to be barred from blood donation if they have had any kind of sex with another man in the last three months, while transgender donors continue to be screened for eligibility based on their sex assigned at birth unless they have undergone gender affirming bottom surgery, regardless of how they gender identify. Both policies are viewed as discriminatory and outdated according to the scientific consensus on the transmission of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) [15;16].

In the workplace, sexual-minority people continue to face discrimination and fewer opportunities for job advancement despite the existence of federal anti-discrimination protections [17]. Research demonstrates that sexual-minority people are more likely to report discrimination and violence in the workplace, including within the Canadian Armed Forces and police institutions, which undermine their mental well-being and work-related outcomes [21-24]. Furthermore, multiple studies have shown that sexual-minority men typically earn less than their heterosexual peers [17–20].

Discrimination in access to housing continues to be an issue for sexual-minority people, with sexual-minority youth and adults over-represented in homelessness rates [25–28]. Sexual-minority-specialized housing programs in Canada are scarce and barriers – including discrimination and heterosexism – persist in access to the shelter system for sexual-minority people, who report experiences of verbal assault and physical violence on the basis of their sexual identities [29;30]. Low-income sexual-minority people complained that work-related stress can put them at risk of food insecurity and unstable housing [10].

Sexual-minority people immigrating to Canada face obstacles before, during, and after the immigration process. Widespread cultural biases embedded in legal decision-making during the process of accessing protected status on the basis of sexual discrimination impose conformity to Eurocentric definitions of queerness. The Canadian legal system continues to place a heavy burden on sexual-minority refugee claimants of colour who do not adhere to locally normative expressions of sexual diversity, and who must often rely on legal consultants or support workers for guidance [31–33]. Under this framework, claims to sexual-minority status that do not reflect stereotypical sexual-minority appearance, cultural participation, or sexual openness are erroneously appraised as fraudulent [31]. The ethnocentrism of the Immigration and Refugee Board of Canada is further manifested in its over-reliance on country-level information to assess the severity of asylum seekers' reported violence in their home countries. That can erase asylum seekers' individual experiences, constitutes imperfect evidence for credibility assessments, and perpetuates stereotypical assumptions [34]. Sexual-minority migrants face additional exclusion and lack of representation when accessing settlement services in Canada [35].

Despite advancements in Canada's legal recognition of same-sex relationships, sexual-minority people still experience barriers in family law. While Canada's legalization of same-sex marriage nationally in 2005 represented an important step forward in sexual-minority people's attainment of equal rights, equally valid relationship structures such as consensual non-monogamy and polyamory remain unrecognized [36], and polygamy remains a crime [37]. These relationship structures are common within sexual-minority communities; for example, 3.8 percent of all participants in Community-Based Research Centre's (CBRC) Sex Now 2019

Survey of sexual-minority men reported being in a relationship with more than one person, while 39.0 percent of participants in a relationship reported their relationship structure as non-monogamous. Furthermore, despite the existence of anti-discriminatory legal protections for sexual-minority people in adoption rights, sexual-minority people continue to experience discrimination in the adoption process. Adoption workers' lack of cultural competency training and minimal exposure to sexual-minority issues, in addition to deep-rooted heteronormative perspectives on parenting, can compromise sexual-minority people's adoption requests and experiences [38;39].

Additionally, sexual-minority people continue to face discrimination and violence from police and the criminal justice system. Nationally, sexual-minority people experience higher rates of recurrent criminal victimization relative to their heterosexual counterparts [40] and report elevated experiences of police harassment and inaction, especially among sexual-minority people of colour, which enables the persistence of violence targeting these communities and is a source of violence in and of itself [41;42]. The recent handling of missing persons in Toronto's Gay Village serves as a particularly pertinent example of the lack of value law enforcement places on the lives of queer men of colour [43]. While more research is needed in this area, existing police-reported data also suggest that the prevalence of intimate partner violence (IPV) among sexual-minority couples is proportionally similar to that of their heterosexual counterparts, but that law enforcement officers are unprepared to address IPV among gay and lesbian couples, treating it less seriously than IPV within heterosexual couples [44–46].

Sexual-minority people may also be over-represented in the prison system as offenders. Data from the United States has shown disproportionate rates of incarceration among sexual-minority people, and while comparable Canadian data is sparse, the existing data indicates that sexual- and gender-minority people may also face disproportionate incarceration rates [47]. For example, a study of police interactions among youth in three British Columbian cities found that non-binary participants were more likely to be handcuffed/arrested compared with young women [48]. Specific Canadian laws have disproportionate impacts on sexual-minority people. Until 2019, Canadian law discriminated against sexual-minority people by enforcing a different age of consent for anal sex, although the law was challenged and struck down several time s

before this legislative change [49]. Other examples of the criminal law's disproportionate impacts on sexual-minority people include the ongoing criminalization of the non-disclosure of HIV status for people living with HIV, a population in which gay men and trans women continue to be greatly over-represented [50–52], and the persistent criminalization of sex work [41;42]. Given these persistent challenges, it is unsurprising that sexual - and gender-minority people have also been at the forefront of advocating for and theorizing about decarceral and restorative justice frameworks [53;54].

In sum, homophobia, discrimination, and violence against sexual-minority people persist in Canada across multiple spheres of life despite human rights protections and other recent legal gains [2;55–59]. This report aims to generate additional knowledge about the legal problems encountered by sexual-minority people in Canada today and the barriers they face in accessing justice. Qualitative methods, and semi-structured interviews in particular, are a powerful approach to understanding these complex issues because they provide insight into the nuances of interviewees' lived experiences and the broader social contexts in which these experiences occur [60;61]. Building on this existing body of literature, this report qualitatively explores the following research questions among sexual-minority people in British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba: 1) What types of legal problems have sexual-minority people experienced in the last three years?; 2) How have sexual-minority people attempted to resolve their legal problems?; 3) What barriers have sexual-minority people experienced during their attempts to resolve their legal problems?; and 4) What has been the impact of the se problems on sexual-minority people?

METHODOLOGY

This work is grounded in community-based research principles to ensure that all aspects of the project are led by sexual-minority community members for the benefit of communities from the outset. Community-based research involves community members in all aspects of the research process—from formulating research questions to sharing research findings—to ensure research conducted benefits and empowers communities first and foremost [62]. All research team members were peers in terms of their sexual orientation. Given CBRC's stronger

connections to queer men's communities, additional research team members who were queer women were intentionally sought out to help lead and implement this work, which resulted in four queer women joining the team as peer researchers.

The project commenced with consultations with community members across Canada to refine the interview guide and recruitment process. This included consultation with individuals who were identified as key informants by the research team and who possess expertise on the legal problems faced by sexual-minority people in Canada, including members of provincial and civil liberties organizations, legal scholars, and organizations that provide legal support to sexual-minority communities. Most of these key informants also identified as members of sexual-minority communities. Special attention was given to consulting with communities of all genders and sexual orientations to ensure that their voices were reflected in the study. The study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Boards at the University of Victoria, University of British Columbia, and Simon Fraser University (protocol #H20-00538).

Recruitment was conducted through social media ads posted by CBRC and other sexualminority community organizations, and through legal aid societies (Appendix A). Individuals who clicked on ads were sent to a page on the CBRC website with additional information about the study (Appendix B), including information about the study team, research questions, risks and benefits, and funding source. Individuals were then directed to an online recruitment screener (Appendix B) to determine eligibility and to identify who to interview. To be eligible, participants had to identify as lesbian, gay, or bisexual, or as another non-heterosexual identity (e.g., Two-Spirit, queer); have experienced a serious legal problem in the last three years; live in British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, or Manitoba; be 16 years of age or older; and be able to complete an interview in either French or English. The definition of legal problems used for this study was broad and informed by the Canadian Legal Problems Survey. This included legal problems associated with financial issues, employment, property damage, immigration, policing, divorce and child custody, medical treatment, discrimination, and harassment. Participants did not have to report engagement in legal action to be eligible. All participants who completed the screener were provided with a list of sexual-minority-friendly mental health resources, regardless of their eligibility or whether they were selected for an interview.

Participants were selected to reflect a diversity of sociodemographic characteristics and a range of legal challenges faced (purposive sampling). Research participants were given information about the study, along with a brief description of interviewers on the research team and were informed that they could choose which peer researcher they wished to speak with. Participants were able to bring a support person of their choosing to their interview, if desired. Support persons were required to sign a confidentiality agreement to ensure that the information shared in the interview was not communicated outside of the interview context.

Interviews took place over the phone or using Zoom and were conducted by peer researchers. Participants received a copy of the consent form (Appendix C) prior to the interview. Before commencing the interview, the interviewer reviewed the consent form and participants provided verbal consent to proceed. Interviews were semi-structured [60] and focused on exploring participants' legal problems, how they attempted to resolve these issues, the outcome of these attempts, and the barriers they encountered (see Appendix D for full interview guide). Interviews ranged in length from 30 to 100 minutes. Participants were given an honorarium of \$50 CAD for their time.

Interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim, and transcripts were stripped of identifiers (e.g., names, dates, locations, details of legal proceedings) prior to analysis.

Participants were given the opportunity to review their transcript. Study data were stored on secure, encrypted University of Victoria servers. Transcripts were thematically analyzed [61] for dominant themes related to serious legal problems and issues of access to justice. The analysis process was led by peer researchers. First, the research team open-coded four transcripts and met to discuss emergent themes. Based on team consensus, a codebook was produced that was applied to the remaining transcripts. Finally, the team met to discuss the findings, and this write-up is the final analytic step of our thematic analysis. Participant quotes are provided with no demographic identifiers in order to help protect participant confidentiality.

FINDINGS

Seventy people completed the online eligibility screener, and 24 completed an interview. Based on content shared within the interview, three participants were deemed ineligible and their

data were not included in the analysis. The findings below are based on the remaining 21 interviews. The average age of participants was 34. Participants reported a range of sexual orientations: five identified as lesbian, nine as gay, two as bisexual, seven as queer, one as Two-Spirit, two as pansexual, and one as asexual (participants could select more than one response option). Five participants identified as women, eight as men, seven as non-binary, and one as "FTM" (i.e., female-to-male, provided as a write-in response). Participants included cisgender, transgender, and non-binary people who identified as lesbian, gay, or bisexual, or as another non-heterosexual identity (e.g., Two-Spirit, queer). Seven participants reported having lived experience as trans, a history of gender transition, and/or identified as transgender. The majority of participants (n=16) identified as White, five participants identified as Indigenous, and one identified as racialized (participants could select multiple response options). Most participants lived in British Columbia (n=14); four lived in Alberta, and three in Manitoba.

Table 1: Sociodemographic characteristics of study sample

Sexual Identity	n	
Lesbian	5	
Gay	9	
Bisexual	2	
Queer	7	
Two-Spirit	1	
Pansexual	2	
Asexual	1	
Racial/Ethnic Identity	n	
White	16	
Indigenous	5	
Racialized	1	

*Note – some numbers add up to more than		
21 as participants could select multiple		
responses		

Gender Identity	n
Woman	5
Man	8
Non-Binary	7
"FTM"	1
Province of Residence	n
British Columbia	14
Alberta	4
Saskatchewan	0
Manitoba	3
Age	n
< 20	1
20–29	5
30–39	10
40–49	5

The findings presented below begin with an outline of the different types of legal problems participants experienced and how these legal problems were shaped by structural racism, homophobia, and transphobia, as well as by systemic racism. Next, participants' attempts to resolve their legal problems and navigate the legal system are explored, focusing on the barriers they experienced and supports they identified as well as their perceptions of legal systems and processes. Finally, the impacts of participants' legal problems and participants' recommendations for improving access to justice are explored.

Types of Legal Issues Reported by Participants

Participants identified a wide range of legal problems, including workplace discrimination, other forms of discrimination and harassment, family law, immigration and refugee law, human rights law, and criminal law. In addition, they described problems related to interactions with the police and the prison system. Indeed, as will be discussed below, many of the problems participants identified arose from how they were treated within legal proceedings or by legal or state actors rather than by the formal written law itself. Each of these legal issues will be addressed below based on participants' experiences.

Employment Discrimination

Participants reported both covert and overt forms of employment discrimination. Common experiences included fear, exclusion, and mockery on the basis of sexual orientation and/or gender identity, and explicit acts of homophobia or transphobia by both co-workers and management. One participant was very clear about their experiences in the workplace:

They absolutely discriminated against me. My sexual orientation [as a gay man] was a factor in the adverse treatment that I received. They removed me from the workplace inappropriately just because they didn't like what I was doing, my way of going about it. They were – I guess there was an element of fear in there. They were fearful of their comfortable culture being encroached upon or being reshaped in some way.

When asked about what this discrimination looked like in practice, this participant related explicit abuse and harassment on the part of his colleagues:

...I would say a lot of mockery of any kind of femininity. I would say the standard reference to homosexuality as something that is laughable, using terms like, 'What are you, a cocksucker?' and 'Nancy this,' 'Fairy that.' It's all very open. Yeah, I would say it's the casual homophobia around the lunch table. Even in management meetings.

Another participant described experiencing discrimination while working for a religious organization, which the participant viewed as being exempt from anti-discrimination laws. Harassment within the workplace was also discussed by a participant who described experiencing:

...a lot of talk and gossip and toxic culture that when I spoke to or spoke out around I was really met with a lot of disrespect and then when I called it harassment, which is in my opinion what it was, and my union agreed that it was, of course it became quite a battle to get any acknowledgment.

Discrimination and Harassment

Discrimination and harassment also manifested within healthcare and educational institutions. Notably, discrimination and harassment can be difficult to define on the part of the recipient, who may not understand these experiences as immediately discriminatory and may experience difficulty attributing the source of discriminatory treatment to one part of their identity (i.e., associated with prohibited grounds of discrimination). This can be especially true of microaggressions (see glossary) [63]. Some participants experienced more explicit and exclusionary forms of discrimination, such as one participant who described the inadequate care they received due to assumptions made on the basis of their sexual orientation:

...it really all stems down to decisions that were made based on my sexual orientation at the time of treatment, the assumption that I was [sick] with an illness that I did not have as the illness that was occurring is an underlying issue of HIV.

Another participant described facing persistent homophobic and transphobic harassment at their post-secondary institution.

Family Law

Multiple participants also spoke about problems within family law, including challenges related to divorce, child custody, and the distribution of assets. Problems within family law often led to

prolonged engagement with legal professionals and the court system, such as for one participant, who spoke about how their former partner prohibited them from expressing their gender identity during their child custody proceedings, noting:

I was in this weird spot where I was presenting female and then when I got the kids on the weekend I would switch to presenting male.

This participant went on to describe their former partner coercing them into hiding their gender identity from their children, using their ongoing legal dispute as leverage: "I was required to [hide my gender]. She forced me to." In this participant's case, the transphobia they experienced from their partner also made it more difficult to settle their divorce and child custody proceedings, which prolonged this legal process and had immense emotional and financial impacts. For other participants, interactions with the courts within the realm of family law were less extensive, but no less harmful. One participant noted that while his child custody and divorce proceedings only required him to be in court on one occasion, his former spouse's lawyer used his sexual identity as a weapon against him:

...the lawyer sort of convinced her to make [participant's sexual orientation] part of her case. I don't know in terms of homophobia but I think it's quite possible.

While this participant's case was ultimately settled outside of court, these reflections speak to how homophobia and transphobia can negatively shape family legal proceedings for sexual-and gender-minority people.

Immigration and Refugee Law

Issues within immigration and refugee law were shared in participants' narratives as well. These issues largely centred around the precarious position of immigrants and refugees in their access to services, supports, and employment. One participant spoke to how their immigration status forced them into unhealthy and transphobic interactions with their family:

I completely came out to my mom that I was a trans man and that's where it gets worse. At that point... I was still on a tourist visa, we were working on my PR [permanent resident status] and student permit... The next thing they sent me is a trap, like trying to make me feel guilty and told me that my mom did everything for me to come here to Canada and then everything for me to make it easy, but she kept saying that I don't show any respect for her or her boyfriend. They said, I don't need to talk about that stuff as it'll be twenty plus years before I might be able to afford like top surgery and transition things.

Thus, the participant's immigration status forced them to continue to rely on a family of origin that was unsupportive of their gender identity in order to secure their permanent resident status.

Human Rights Law

Furthermore, challenges within human rights law were described by some participants, with different forms of discrimination (e.g., within health care, government identification documents), leading some participants to engage human rights processes for legal recourse. Most participants in our sample were uncertain of the purpose of human rights commissions or tribunals or how to engage them, and those who pursued human rights complaints generally relied on support from legal professionals to advance their claims. For example, one participant described human rights tribunals as intimidating:

...if a gay person is scared to go to the human rights tribunal that makes sense because the human rights tribunal is made to be scary.

Another participant who described using the human rights process to address both discriminatory healthcare provision on the basis of their gender identity and to change their sex marker on their government-issued ID noted that it was difficult to find legal representation in this domain:

There are only two or three lawyers who really understand and specialize in these issues practicing human rights law.

The "neutrality" of human rights tribunal proceedings (i.e., the need to withhold judgment until the case was heard fully, despite complainants' experiences of harms) was also criticized, since it contributed to participants feeling blamed for the harms they had experienced:

I feel like there's some inherent kind of victim blamey-ness in that neutrality but I almost would wish there was like an appointed person who represents you throughout the way and represents your side, but there's not.

This participant represented themselves in tribunal proceedings, largely due to the cost of hiring a lawyer and their lack of awareness of legal professionals who specialize in human rights law. Others described using the human rights complaint process to address experiences of discrimination and harassment on the basis of sexual orientation and/or gender identity and expression at their school or workplace. For example, one participant filed a human rights complaint after experiencing persistent harassment at their school:

I filed a human rights complaint after I left, and it's basically been fighting tooth and nail for them to do nothing. I wanted them to update their policy so I wouldn't be harassed, when I was harassed I wanted apologies, I wanted teachers that made open rape comments in public fired, I just wanted so much to be done.

Ultimately, this participant noted that the human rights process was unsuccessful in resolving their legal issue, as no one was held accountable for this harassment and no institutional policies were changed as a result of their complaint.

Criminal Law

Additionally, participants described challenges within criminal law. For some participants, this meant being the victim of a crime, such as for one participant who described being the target of

an attempted gay-bashing and repeated property damage, which warranted police intervention. For other participants, issues within criminal law stemmed from being accused of and/or convicted of a crime, including one participant who experienced being banned from travelling to the United States due to sex work. This participant noted that convictions under sex trade laws were rare but possible, and even though the participant was not explicitly convicted of a crime, the criminalization of sex work and the intimation by border agents that this participant was engaged in such work shaped their ability to work and cross international borders. Other participants shared experiences of intimate partner violence, both as a victim and a perpetrator. Thus, multiple issues brought participants into interactions with the criminal justice system.

Policing and Incarceration

Finally, some participants spoke to issues related to policing and incarceration, including experiences of violent treatment by prison personnel acting through patterns of homophobia or transphobia. One participant, who had experienced incarceration, described their experience of violence within the system:

...every week I would go from the prisoner's box to observe the court... I would go every single week and they just kept seeing the changes in me, some days being beaten so bad by the guards. One day I went in there so beaten and bloodied that the guard ordered the sheriffs to take me down so that they could take pictures and send me straight to the hospital.

Other people spoke about problems experienced during interactions with the police, with one participant noting that these interactions were inconsistent:

Personally, having a partner who's got some pretty serious mental health issues, we've had to call police for mental health checks and various things like that before so I've certainly got that experience that has been both positive and not so positive.

The participant went on to explain that this varied, largely based on officers' degree of training in mental health issues. Thus, participants identified a variety of legal problems that brought them into interaction with legal systems.

Structural Factors Contributing to Legal Problems

While participants experienced a range of legal problems, these challenges were generally rooted in systemic forms of oppression, including racism, settler colonialism, homophobia, transphobia, and cisheterosexism, as will be demonstrated below. Participants' legal experiences were thus not only shaped by their sexual orientation, but also by other intersecting aspects of their identities or how others perceived them (e.g., their race/ethnicity, Indigeneity, and gender identity) and associated structures of power [64]. These forces shaped participants' experiences both outside of and within legal systems, cut across multiple legal domains, and often contributed to participants initially pursuing legal recourse.

Settler Colonialism

Several Indigenous participants spoke of how their interactions with the legal system were not only shaped by their gender identity and expression and/or sexual orientation but also by racism and settler colonialism. Participants often described the violence they experienced within legal institutions as unsurprising and as rooted in systems of racism and settler colonialism that were not unique to legal systems, but had shaped many facets of their life outside of legal settings:

...learning about how I was treated in the legal system, it didn't surprise me... it was such a pattern of how I was treated from high school to real life, that I know how Natives are looked upon here in this town, and in other places, and how they're treated, and how gay people [are treated]... I was well aware of how I could be treated, and it for sure played a factor in my legal system stuff because it prepared me for it, it wasn't anything that was new.

This participant's comments highlight how racist and colonial violence was further intensified by intersecting homophobia for many sexual-minority people. Additionally, their experiences highlight the pervasiveness of anti-Indigenous racism across institutions, including within legal systems. Participants also spoke about how interactions with settler institutions like courts, the prison system, and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) were connected to long histories of colonial violence that continue to target, regulate, and dispossess Indigenous people. One participant explicitly described the police and RCMP as tools of ongoing colonization:

I think being Indigenous is the indicator that gets me flagged or targeted or . . . engaged with the . . . prison industrial complex. I also think that the inability for the system to support my intersecting identities makes it even much more violent and harmful, and it's not about protection but also about property, and I continue to be someone who's displaced and dispossessed of homelands for settlers, for settler occupation. And the police or RCMP are active agents in the continued dispossession.

Given that police forces, including the RCMP, are not equipped to interact with Indigenous people in culturally appropriate ways and fundamentally continue to be used as tools of colonization and Indigenous dispossession, it is unsurprising that interactions with the police frequently come with additional harms for Indigenous participants.

Structural Racism

Participants also identified experiences of overt racism at the hands of professionals within the legal system, including a participant who described an experience of having their blood taken without consent while being held in a correctional facility:

This guy came in and he wanted to do my blood for a DNA count or something, and I didn't sign any papers for it, I wasn't court ordered to do it, and he physically came in, grabbed my hand and took my blood. And I'm like telling him no and all this, he made

some derogatory Indian comment, and then left. So I don't, I don't have any information on it, I don't know what my blood was used for, I don't know anything about it.

This participant went on to explain how Indigenous people within the prison system are "treated like a fifth-class citizen" and targeted for harsher treatment, especially in comparison with White inmates. Ultimately, racism and settler colonialism cut across various legal domains and institutions for Indigenous study participants, who frequently experienced legal systems as actively violent.

Participants shared reflections on how legal systems and society more broadly establish and assume a "default" individual who is, among other things, white, cisgender, a man, middle or upper class, and not living with disabilities. This assumption dictates how participants experience the system and are treated, which has immense ramifications for those with identities and experiences that do not fit neatly within this "default" norm. White participants also reflected on the privileges they accrued in relation to racism and settler colonialism, with one participant noting that their white privilege, in combination with their socioeconomic privilege, enhanced their ability to access legal supports:

I think in some ways I had a lot of access which I do attribute to white privilege, and also class privilege.

Other participants spoke to how privilege facilitated access to legal systems, without naming whiteness or class explicitly. For example, one White participant mentioned:

I grew up in a very privileged environment so I know a lot of lawyers, a lot of doctors, just a lot of professionals.

Cisheterosexism

Participants discussed how cisheterosexism—a complex set of structures, institutions, relations, and actions that promote and produce being cisgender and heterosexual as natural, self-

evident, desirable, privileged, and necessary [65]—systematically shaped access to justice for sexual- and gender-minority people, who were rendered invisible within legal processes that often presumed legal actors to be cisgender, heterosexual, monogamously coupled, and part of nuclear family structures. Reflecting on their experiences in family law, one participant spoke about the impacts of being "othered" within this legal system, stating:

...really the whole heteronormative assumption around divorce and separation is just really laughable, like we've both chuckled to ourselves a few times around how you know there really is just this assumption that all divorces are between men and women, that are locked in some acrimonious battle, and that isn't the case, certainly not in our case... There is no mechanism to reflect that our situation is not "other," it's not deviant, it's not weird, but it was very clear that we were not the norm. Yeah, which felt marginalizing.

Other participants noted that cisheterosexism was reinforced through the lack of sexual-minority representation within legal systems, with one participant indicating "I just wasn't aware of any lawyers who were doing more like LGBTQ2+ like human rights issues in [a province]."Thus, cisheteronosexism often erased sexual- and gender-minority people within legal processes and served as another systemic barrier to accessing justice.

Homophobia

Homophobia was a continuous thread across participants' legal experiences, often shaping their legal problems in critical ways and manifesting within the justice system itself. Participants frequently linked their legal problems to broader structures of homophobia by mentioning that they felt sexual-minority people were less likely to be able to access legal resources or advice. Some tied these persistent legal barriers to longer histories of state-sanctioned homophobia, with one participant noting that, "1969 wasn't a long time ago, Trudeau's apology [in 2017] wasn't that long ago," referring first to the decriminalization of homosexuality in the Criminal Code in 1969 and then to Prime Minister Justin Trudeau's apology for systemic discrimination

against sexual- and gender-minority people in Canada in 2017. Homophobia appeared in many different forms across participants' narratives, including through verbal harassment, stereotypes, dehumanization, and bullying. As one participant described, these forms of homophobia could lead to participants not feeling comfortable being out about their sexual identity at work:

Just lots of gay jokes, they love to throw the word gay around, seemingly in a derogatory manner. "That's so gay" and "What are you, gay?" and this kind of thing. It created an undertone in the department that... made me very apprehensive to come out as gay myself and take a close look at how I was going to go about being my authentic self in the workplace knowing that this is how LGBTQ people are seen.

The climate of homophobia contributed to this participant eventually seeking legal recourse for the discrimination they experienced within their workplace. Homophobia within workplaces could also manifest as stereotypes about sexual-minority people, and gay men in particular, as predatory or sexually deviant:

...they pretty much put me out there as some kind of predator who took advantage of my partner in some kind of like mentorship role, which never existed... and it's like I don't know why you would create a story that is so easily disproven.

Furthermore, participants described overtly homophobic interactions within the justice system, and particularly within interactions with police and prison personnel. For example, one participant described how their sexual identity was used against them in court proceedings:

[My ex-partner's] lawyer brought up like completely impertinent things related to my sexuality in his questioning of me and it just like, it just made no sense why any of it was being brought up, and my lawyer was like, "Yeah, there's no reason for this." But there, it always felt like there was no real consequence to that, like they were just sort of allowed to, they were just able to use that as intimidation throughout the whole thing.

These experiences of ongoing homophobia were often intensified within the prison system, as one participant noted:

And even being in the correctional system, there was never an opportunity to present or to be open about being gay, if you were, you were bullied in there, you would be bullied by staff, you would be segregated, you'd be put in protective custody, all of that kind of stuff.

Similarly, another participant who had experienced incarceration explained that pervasive and overt homophobia further contributed to dehumanization of sexual-minority inmates:

...people are dehumanized enough in that setting and then in addition just as a result of who they are, being further dehumanized and humiliated.

Other participants described experiencing negative stereotypes about sexual-minority people when engaging with the police that discredited or minimized their experience and legal claims, with one participant noting:

...the police officer came there to talk about it and you know, when I was sharing with him some of the things, his comments were, "Well isn't this sort of a common thing in the gay community, to send each other nude pics like that?"

Within the realm of intimate partner violence, another person stated that they felt that the police did not take domestic abuse claims within same-sex/same-gender couples seriously and tied this to a longer trajectory of "too much sour history between the gay community and law enforcement."

Transphobia

Like racism and homophobia, transphobia shaped experiences both outside of and within the legal system and across legal domains for participants with intersecting sexual - and gender-

minority identities. Participants articulated that transphobia was not unique to legal systems or processes, but was a deep-rooted structural and societal issue that continued to follow participants into the legal system. Experiences of gender-identity-based discrimination and transphobia often led participants into the legal system in the first place, including for one participant who described experiencing transphobia in their workplace, which they eventually sought legal recourse for:

I don't identify as cis, like I'm non-binary, and I have never even considered coming out at my workplace, that's just, it's just not something that I ever see happening.

Other participants described how transphobia shapes trans and other gender-minority people's experiences throughout the legal and prison systems, and across various legal domains:

I think that a lot of trans people experience appalling discrimination in access to housing, access to services, access to benefits, criminal law, through the prison system, with police, what else can I think of? You know, basically every aspect where a legal problem could result, the consequences for trans people are often devastating.

Within the legal system itself, transphobia could manifest in a variety of ways, including being misgendered by lawyers and court officials, which several participants mentioned. One participant called being misgendered in legal proceedings "par for the course" since "most people I come into contact with have no idea [about trans identities]," while another participant noted:

With her [ex-partner's] lawyer, you know, certainly being misgendered by her lawyer in mediation was an annoyance. I was still too kind of early in my transition to correct her, I certainly would and will today, if it happened.

This participant's reflection that they would correct misgendering now reveals a systemic assumption that correcting this form of violence is the responsibility of the individual advocate

rather than of the system itself, which should be actively protecting individuals from this harm. In British Columbia, for example, legal counsel and parties have recently been required to give their titles and their pronouns at the beginning of court proceedings [66]. However, binary gendered terms are still frequently used for addressing judges, in addition to the genderneutral term "your honour," which one participant viewed as contributing to the erasure of non-binary people within court settings:

I think it's completely absurd that we used gendered titles to describe judges – my lord, my lady, sir, ma'am. There are gender neutral ways to refer to judges and by insisting that we have binary gender titles for judges, the implicit message is that non-binary people can't be judges because there's no way to refer to them in court.

This participant further explained that their ex-partner's lawyer used stereotypes about trans people as deviant and perverse within court proceedings, which further speaks to how transphobia functions within legal systems in similar ways to homophobia, as described earlier:

...her lawyer with a straight face is saying this to me, and then "it's too much for the kids to see," and I was basically a pervert... was some sort of deviant, and I didn't deserve the same access as everyone else, or the same rights as everyone else as a parent.

Ultimately, transphobia rendered legal systems harmful and inaccessible for many trans and gender-diverse participants.

Resolutions and Barriers to Legal Problems

In discussing attempts to resolve their legal problems, some participants indicated that they had successfully resolved the problems they encountered through legal recourse. However, most participants described experiencing multiple barriers to navigating the legal system and satisfactorily resolving their legal problems. Overall, the keys to successful legal outcomes for participants included:

- 1) their ability to access resources and navigate systemic barriers
- 2) the supports and/or resources available to them at the time
- 3) their valuation of and trust in legal systems for resolving legal problems

Participants experienced various barriers in their attempts to resolve their legal issues, many of which are not unique to sexual-minority people. These barriers, which are described in detail below, included: (1) lack of clarity about legal systems and processes, (2) financial barriers, (3) disproportionate burden of proof, (4) lack of response or slow timelines, and (5) having to self-advocate.

Lack of Clarity about Legal Processes

Many participants felt that the legal system was unnecessarily complex and designed to obstruct any successful resolution. Participants often expressed confusion and frustration with legal processes. Even those with advanced education or understanding of the legal system often felt stymied by processes that were perceived to be deliberately cumbersome. One participant who had lost their job as a result of their sexual identity was unclear as to whether their experience constituted a legal case: "I really wasn't sure if I qualified, even, because it's... I'm not sure if it counts as like a legal issue." Another participant made it clear that the grievance process that they were involved in with their employer was so convoluted that it was likely that the timelines would run out before their problem was resolved:

Any, for instance, LGBTQ manager in the government who feels they've been harassed or discriminated against will be relegated to this process like I was, and they'll be in that grievance process in blissful ignorance thinking that they've got a solution on the horizon when they don't. By the time they find out they don't, it's too late to file a human rights complaint because you've gone past that limitation timeline of a year.

Confusion about legal processes meant that some participants were manipulated within legal processes, such as for one participant, who explained, "[Border agents] told me to sign some paperwork which I also didn't know at the time I didn't legally have to." Another participant noted that excessive bureaucracy extended legal timelines past the point of efficiency or desirability:

Getting answers from a healthcare professional that you've experienced discrimination with, you have to go through all these processes, all of these processes have to agree at one level or another before you're able to proceed with any sort of action to seek a resolution.

Financial Barriers

Among most participants, limited access to financial resources was a critical access barrier to appropriate and timely legal assistance, and to ensure fair and equitable treatment in the legal system. Since sexual- and gender-minority people have been marginalized both socially and economically, they frequently have diminished financial capacity to obtain adequate legal assistance [67]. Many participants did not have the necessary funds to access a lawyer in the first place, as demonstrated by one participant: "I'm of course continuing in this vulnerable spot where I have to try and negotiate and engage, rather than just get a lawyer, because I can't afford a lawyer." For participants who were unable to secure legal aid, financial barriers often rendered them unable to continue with legal proceedings due to cost, as this participant explained further:

Financially, it destroyed me... my lawyer is still answering my emails but, you know, that bill is over seven thousand dollars right now and I can't afford it. I'm not living the life I want with my children at all, because I've been afraid to exercise basic rights, but I just (deep breath), I've been afraid of the court or the judge or the cost.

The intersection between limited financial capital and sexual-minority marginalization was highlighted in another participant's response:

I mean I think there's often a bit of financial burden to getting help. I mean I think that's broadly based for the world and population in general but especially queer people... depending on the individual we're not necessarily working in jobs where we're making big dollars or – and that may be because, maybe by choice... or maybe not so much by choice where we're kind of stuck in relatively limited job in terms of income and growth opportunities.

Furthermore, legal aid services that have been designed to assist lower-income individuals often failed to support participants. Strict eligibility requirements create barriers to access, rendering many individuals who are still unable to pay for costly legal aid ineligible for the service. As this participant stated:

...when you go through stuff like that you're very much alone. That was one of my biggest issues, having to deal with a lot of that stuff on my own because there was just no... I guess I'm gonna have to put it like there was no fair legal access, or legal advice access, you know, it was four or five hundred dollars an hour and that adds up... You can only qualify for legal aid or legal advice through the legal society in [province] if you are facing serious jail time, or if you are going through a family divorce, for family court stuff.

Disproportionate Burden of Proof

Participants also described the difficulties of needing to "prove" that what they experienced rose to the level of legal process. In the case of individuals who turned to the legal system to seek recourse after experiencing homophobia or transphobia, challenging institutions or organizations was difficult, especially when the organization was not held to the same expectation of proof:

...they are not obligated to provide evidence, they can provide a lie in the letter and the ombudsperson has no authority to require them to prove it... In other words, the pressure will be back on the complainant to demonstrate that they made every effort to find alternate work and pull themselves out of the situation.

Another participant shared that, in the case of employment discrimination, even their advocate (i.e., union representative) highlighted the difficulty of articulating harassment on the basis of sexual orientation:

...he'd said like more than likely that was probably a factor, that it's really difficult to prove. Not that he wasn't sympathetic, not that it wasn't terrible, it's really difficult to prove.

Yet another participant, who did file a civil suit against a government agency, stated that because of this burden of proof on individuals who have experienced discrimination, sexual-minority community members are forced to weigh whether pursuing legal recourse is worth the requisite time and energy:

...there are so many discouraging elements to pursuing justice that come at you. It's a wonder anybody ever bothers with it at all.

Further, participants articulated that proving discrimination on the basis of sexual-minority identity to people without lived sexual-minority experience was a challenge:

When there's subtle discrimination against an LGBTQ person you may not necessarily pick up on it unless you're a member of our community yourself.

This lack of sexual-minority cultural competence and sensitivity in the legal system resulted in participants feeling that this system was not meant to serve or support them.

Lack of Response/Slow Timelines

Another barrier to participants receiving the aid they needed was the complex nature of legal systems and the amount of time required to address legal problems. Participants perceived overly bureaucratic procedures as not only restricting, but designed to limit access to justice. One participant explained their legal battle in the health system in this way:

[At] the first level with the health authority, they ask you to submit a series of questions that you have about the care you received. You submit 100 questions. They'll come back at you with 50 that they'll put through, and they're completely reworded and they're designed to reword the question that you originally asked so that you won't actually get the direct answer that you're requesting and those are the questions that will get sent to — you have to agree to the questions, the more you resist the questions the more they get redesigned or dropped, and then once you do agree to the questions that are there they get sent to the executive representatives for that block of healthcare in that healthcare region, within that healthcare authority.

These restrictive requirements proved onerous and discouraging for many participants.

Another participant voiced their frustration at the unwieldy and prolonged human rights tribunal process, paraphrasing a confirmation letter as:

[Province's] Human Rights Tribunal has received your correspondence, the tribunal is experiencing a high caseload volume, which is unfortunately resulting in significant delays at many stages in the complaint process. We will respond to your email as soon as possible. Thank you for your ongoing patience. Please note, resending emails will not speed up the response time. If you are filing a new complaint you will be sent a letter confirming receipt of your complaint in approximately one to two months. Your letter will explain the next steps in the tribunals process and provide you with a case number. To speed up our response time please be sure to blah, blah, blah, here's the tribunal's address.

Further frustration was voiced over excessively slow response times regarding particular cases participants were involved with. In one case, it took up to three months for the Crown to review the case, only to reject it due to lack of evidence:

...the Crown reviewed it and it took them almost 3 months of review process. [City]
Crown reviewed it and then they sent it to [two other cities for additional] opinion[s],
they finally came with the reality that there was a crime committed of a criminal nature,
but because it was not witnessed by anyone and didn't leave any marks that there was
nothing they could do about it, that the likelihood of charges going through was far too
low to merit a trial.

Another participant expressed exasperation at the lengthy timeframes and documentation that ultimately meant their case went cold. They were only able to complete the process at great personal cost:

...to me the whole process is just designed to keep you running in circles until time runs out, or you run out of money to be able to continue any processes... Going back into the legal processes, it's long, it's drawn out, your rights are restricted, what you can and cannot say, what you can and cannot do... The timeframes to do this sort of stuff are also unreasonable considering how long it takes to process and do this stuff, like the timeframes are just insane, the turnaround times... I mean it took nearly two years to get 30 questions answered, which is just, it's unreasonable because it stops you... it stops you dead in life, dead in your tracks because now you've got to do all of this stuff that shouldn't have to be done.

Having to Advocate for Oneself

Since previously mentioned barriers meant that many participants lacked sufficient legal aid, participants were often forced to advocate for themselves within legal systems. This included participants being put in the position of having to inform and educate legal professionals on the

specific needs of sexual- and gender-minority people, even though participants had already faced discrimination or trauma and had turned to the legal system for recourse. These situations inflicted additional trauma, as one participant explained:

I had a regular list of people that I would email, the Diversity Coordinator I think his job position was. I knew the actual faculty department head from my previous time in [school name, year], I actually had him as an instructor, so I had a connection to the head of the department and he was just as apathetic as the rest. I was able to strongarm him into suspending a student who was showing [anti-LGBTQ] videos of [details omitted], but he was only suspended for about 3 days.

Another participant explained that they were left without an advocate in their union, and had to navigate the process themselves, despite their limited knowledge:

I was not represented by the union, I was outside of the bargaining unit, so the union stepped back and I was left entirely on my own while this was going on. So, I filed a complaint with the human rights commission.

A final participant related their experience navigating the legal system largely on their own due to their inability to hire a full-time lawyer:

It was a lot of travelling, visiting a lot of legal professionals, spending a lot of time on the legislature's website reading legislation, having to learn how the law actually works... it's a lot. And my legal friend, he was doing as much as he could to try and keep costs down for me, so that's why I had to do a lot of the leg work, looking for precedents, looking for like-cases, searching the internet and legal databases for the particular people involved, finding out their information, contacting other suits that are involving the same people, contacting legal professionals and gathering information from them as well.

While this example speaks to the resilience and resourcefulness of sexual - and gender-minority people in navigating legal systems, participants finding themselves with no choice but to advocate on their own behalf also speaks to serious shortcomings within the legal system.

Supportive Factors Identified by Participants

As participants conveyed their experiences of legal challenges, they also described sources of support, foremost among them being LGBTQ2+ community and grassroots advocacy groups. Many of those interviewed, who themselves had adequate community support, felt that sexual-and gender-minority communities provided important support networks for members of these communities who are facing discrimination and limited access to important resources or capital. Additionally, participants also found support through (1) involvement of an LGBTQ2+ advocate, (2) family and community support, and (3) the workplace.

Having an LGBTQ2+ Advocate Within the System

Participants noted that having a legal advocate to assist in navigating complex legal procedures and systems was critical in the success of their legal claims. However, they also argued that legal professionals must possess experience working with LGBTQ2+ individuals in order to be effective advocates for sexual-minority people. This often meant engaging lawyers who were themselves sexual-minority people, as one participant explained:

The only reason that I had support that I did was because the lawyer was a gay man... like I had mentioned I'd gone through my employee assistance program, the lawyers that I had spoken to, my impression — and I mean they're not going to admit it — my impression is that because it was related to the gay stuff — God this pisses me off, I'm [age] years old and it's just stupid, people... sorry. So, he took an interest in it and backed it because he knew it was a fact, he himself had healthcare issues and had access issues to healthcare, but he knew from experience that this is and had been an issue for a long time.

Advocacy could also come from sexual- and gender-minority professionals outside of the legal system, as participants found support through counselling, therapy, and/or professional coaching. As was the case for legal professionals, participants perceived professionals who were connected to or part of sexual- and gender-minority communities as better positioned to offer support, as this participant's response indicates:

I did eventually find, you know, a counsellor who did turn out to be queer and whose partner was non-binary but, more importantly, after our first session I had kind of gone through some of my history, you know, just how what I had shared with you about [church] for example, and she had done a double major in psychology and religious studies and looks for the intersection of religion, gender and sexuality, and so it was like this perfect mix of like total, yeah, affirmation about every aspect of my being.

Collectively, these reflections highlight the importance of having individuals with sexual - and gender-minority expertise within legal and support systems.

Family and Community Support

While many sexual- and gender-minority people experience strained relationships with their families of origin [68], some participants identified their families as a crucial site of support within legal processes. For example, one participant described the financial support they received from their family:

I'm very fortunate that I have a pretty fantastic family and they're able to assist with certain things such as my court costs at the moment. I also am very fortunate that it's a pretty cut and dry case and I'm very confident in it moving forward in a positive direction for myself so, I mean, that certainly allows my family to be a little bit more confident in lending me a whole bunch of money for a lawyer.

The importance of familial financial support was also mentioned by a participant, who reflected on the privilege they held, even as a sexual-minority person, that allowed them to navigate the legal system more efficiently:

The only reason I felt comfortable is because I have very wealthy parents, and I have a lot of privilege and I have a lot of connections. If I was poor, you could bet your bottom dollar there's not a fucking chance I would be able to be making this claim.

Another participant described experiencing housing insecurity as a result of their legal problem and was able to rely on their family for this support:

I'm out of resources, I'm unemployed, I'm living at my brother's, you know, I'm essentially homeless, if it wasn't for my brother I would be living in my car.

Participants also found support in their communities. One person, when asked if they felt that they had access to any resources that were helpful during their legal issue, explained that, while there had been no funded services which they could use, it was from the community itself that they found the most support.

No, no. The services that were helpful weren't funded services, they were people. So there was a . . . a woman in the community who offered children's therapy out of her home, and she did it without payment with the hope that the victim assistance fund allocation would pay her costs, it didn't, and she just wrote off the costs and called it pro bono. So that was good.

The specific connections that individuals have to other people, especially in sexual- and gender-minority communities, shape their ability to navigate the system. It is crucial that these connections to community touchpoints exist and are known about within sexual- and gender-minority communities and social networks.

Workplace Supports

While the workplace was not indicated as a primary source of support by most of those interviewed, some participants mentioned that programs offered at their place of work had been helpful in procuring the necessary finances for their legal case. One participant illustrated the way their previous place of work had benefited them, while at the same time recognizing that many others would not have had the same access and advantage:

I mean with my former employer I was also lucky they had a family assistance benefit-type program for referrals, legal referrals, as well as a discount on their rates. So that was really quite helpful in essentially ensuring that I had a good connection to a lawyer and then was able to take – received a pretty sizable discount on what it cost. So that's also been pretty positive for me and not something that I would think most people necessarily have access to, depending on where you work and stuff like that.

Similarly, another participant noted that their workplace insurance coverage allowed them to access mental health supports, which helped them cope with the impacts of their legal problems:

I basically had unlimited mental health coverage, and so I was going to see a counsellor every 2 to 3 weeks.

It is clear from participants' responses that having the above supports and contacts can make an important difference in ensuring a positive conclusion to an individual's legal process. However, not all sexual- and gender-minority people have access to these resources and connections, and as discussed with respect to systems of navigation, the lack of these supports in legal matters is a systemic inequity.

Perceptions of the Legal System

Participants' perceptions of the legal system were shaped by: 1) their perception of legal institutions as homophobic, transphobic, and racist; and 2) their lack of optimism for a positive

legal outcome. Many of the participants interviewed indicated that they had failed to resolve their legal issues to their satisfaction and this was partially due to a lack of faith in legal processes for resolving their legal problems as LGBTQ2+ people. Participants frequently perceived legal institutions as inherently homophobic or transphobic, which contributed to their lack of optimism for a positive outcome. Sexual- and gender-minority people often experience discrimination, harm, and violence in all areas of life, which can produce traumabased responses that in turn affect their trust in the legal system—a system that is perceived as both systemically discriminatory and as difficult to access without adequate resources and assistance for marginalized and/or oppressed people. For example, one participant, when asked why they decided not to address their issue with city police, explained:

I decided not to. Because, again, I would be, again, . . . my life would be taken apart . . . and I would be villainized or seen as the problem, when I was not the one who put my hands on another person or threatened them.

Perception of Institutions as Homophobic, Transphobic and Racist

The discrimination, exclusions, human rights violations, and violence enacted against many sexual- and gender-minority individuals often led to a recognition of many legal institutions as being systemically homophobic, transphobic, and racist. For example, one participant noted:

Yes, I think like my experiences of seeing how police officers and courts and judges and other lawyers deal with conflict that might relate to gender and sexuality and to individuals who have alternate gender and sexual identities, I feel like the experience with those systems at large has, it just entrenched my distrust of them, generally.

Another participant suggested that the spaces and facilities available to them in legal institutions demonstrate the many ways that cisheterosexism favours cisgender and heterosexual people, rendering sexual - and gender-minority people as deliberately excluded:

I think that at the court level, at the level of the courthouse, the courthouses themselves need to be made inclusive of people of all genders so that means gender neutral washrooms, it means that you should no longer have these binary, gender segregated barrister's lounges.

Lack of Optimism for a Positive Outcome

Another reason that many of those interviewed failed to positively resolve their legal issue was due to an experience that caused fear and distrust of the police and those in the legal system. This distrust creates an environment of fear in which many situations of intimate partner violence (IPV) in LGBTQ2+ households are never reported. These fears often led to their conclusion that the system would fail them and/or place them in a further compromised position due to being sexual- and gender minorities. This lack of trust and optimism is illustrated in the following statements from two different participants:

I know that my friends are afraid to call the police for help, they're afraid to call domestic violence lines because they automatically direct the police and I just think as far as domestic abuse goes the police are just not the appropriate tool to be using, that's just too much of a sledgehammer, too much sour history between the gay community and law enforcement.

I very quickly became distrustful of the entire institution and I ... just kind of felt like I wanted to avoid interacting with police as much as possible after that. Yeah, I didn't really feel like anyone was on [my] team after that. So yeah, it was definitely a damaging experience.

Finally, one participant noted that their experiences, as well as those of others in the community, demonstrated the ways that representatives of the justice system failed to recognize the needs of sexual- and gender-minority people engaged in the legal process and led to their decision to discontinue their own case:

One of the reasons why I did really try to fight to keep it out of the court, and I gave up on things, compromised on things, I didn't necessarily need the compromise on is a friend of mine had had a very poor experience with a judge in [city], and I just did not want to go through that, like being misgendered repeatedly by the judge despite the name change and the marker change and everything, so I avoided it.

These reflections highlight that participants' perceptions of legal systems were not only shaped by their individual experiences, but by the experiences of other sexual - and gender-minority people within this system. Thus, individual experiences can be accentuated by longer histories of harm inflicted on their communities by the legal system and its various institutions.

Impacts of Legal Problems

Participants identified a range of impacts they experienced due to their interactions with the legal system and poor or unsatisfactory resolutions to their legal issues, including impacts on their employment, finances, social life, and mental and emotional well-being. Attempts to improve access to justice for sexual- and gender-minority people must be attentive to these impacts and experiences of harm.

Employment Impacts

Certain types of legal issues had long-term ramifications on participants' professional lives and career prospects. In one situation, the participant was "outed" at work, which resulted in uncomfortable relationships with colleagues and managers and untenable employment situations. This participant explained that they were "uncomfortable with my sexual identity being water cooler gossip" and was later denied opportunities for promotion within their workplace. For some participants, these workplace conditions led to heightened monitoring by management and other employees, as well as job loss. Other people described the impacts of their legal problems on their ability to advance in workplaces and secure high-paying jobs in the

future. For example, one participant reflected on the career ramifications of having a criminal record:

Yeah, so the criminal record has been a barrier, so there are positions I'm highly qualified for... sort of a very well paid, very well benefitted career to have – high pay, high benefits – so that's been a barrier, having that criminal record.

For other participants, pursuing legal recourse required them to put their career on hold to invest the required time and energy into their legal battle. One participant recalled:

It's been impacting on my career, because like I say you put everything on hold and it's like, you go back to my career and it's like I'm five years behind now. So, it literally puts your life on hold, it impacts every aspect of your life.

Financial Impacts

The financial impacts of legal problems could also be wide-ranging and long-lasting, resulting in loss of income-earning opportunities and immense debt for some participants. As one participant recounted:

The issue with healthcare left me with a huge debt, and then going through the legal process just increased that debt. So, at one point you've got to just measure out, am I going to be spending the rest of my life working just to pay for this just because I said you can't treat me like shit? So yeah, it's a very costly process as well.

This participant further shared having to exhaust their savings and take on loans to pursue legal recourse. Other participants described the expenses associated with pursuing legal recourse led to precarity in their ability to afford food, housing, or health insurance, which could in turn negatively impact their overall security, well-being, and quality of life.

Social Impacts

Legal problems also came with social impacts for many participants, producing tensions within their community and relationships with family and friends. For example, one participant noted that being outed by the police as a minor created tension with their parents:

[The police] tracked down my family, they had a big intervention about it. I ended up getting sent to a therapist who was tasked with telling my parents whether I was gay or not. It was a whole... it was a really massive intervention in my life.

Another participant who was outed to their family and friends by police noted that this led to "members of the community, who were my friends... completely blocking contact with me." Similarly, one participant, who was unable to cross the border due to their legal problem, mentioned that this meant that they could not maintain relationships with close friends and family in the United States. Other participants noted that legal battles could be all-consuming and required putting one's life on hold for a prolonged period of time. One participant reflected:

...it forces them out of their life, you know, when you're going through stuff like that. You lose touch with friends and friendship because you're so delved into the care and the legal... you lose yourself in it. It's brutal. And getting out of it, getting out of that mindset is brutal.

Emotional and Psychological Impacts

Attempts to resolve legal problems were also emotionally draining and severely impacted mental health for many people we spoke with, especially when legal problems were not resolved in a satisfying manner from participants' perspectives and when multiple legal problems intersected. One participant spoke about the prevailing futility they felt as a result of their attempt to resolve a series of legal problems rooted in transphobia:

There's definitely the emotional exhaustion... and then there was always the feeling of this may not result in any change so do I want to put what's necessary into it only to find that nothing changes?

Another participant mentioned how being repetitively misgendered within legal proceedings made "a process that was already very difficult and emotional... just more difficult and more emotional than it needed to be." Indeed, some participants stated that their legal experiences were traumatic and deeply damaging, occasionally requiring support from mental health professionals to help process their experiences. One participant stated:

...just the amount of therapy and mental trauma, being, getting square with it, is astonishing. I very much remember a time of my life where I did not feel and experience what's going on in my brain the same way it is now, and I'm damaged beyond repair.

These depictions of legal systems as traumatizing for sexual-minority people were common, with one participant generalizing and normalizing this trauma by noting, "Yeah, it's just trauma, that's all, I'm just like every other queer person." Finally, one participant explicitly mentioned how legal systems can exacerbate existing mental health challenges:

...if you struggle with your mental health, the way that the justice system interacts with you and engages with you is really affected by your wellness and so when somebody's not well... [the system is] essentially causing harm to them, rather than being helpful. That's detrimental to the person, but to society as a whole and to the trust in the legal system.

Participants thus experienced a range of long-lasting professional, financial, social, and mental health impacts as a result of their legal problems and attempts to access justice through legal systems, which negatively contributed to their quality of life.

Gaps and Opportunities Identified by Participants

Participants had several suggestions for improving access to justice for sexual - and gender-minority people, including greater representation of sexual - and gender-minority people within legal systems, more sexual-minority-specific resources, the need to challenge cisheterosexism, creating more accessible tools to navigate the legal system more easily, and similar guides for other legal problems.

Greater Sexual- and Gender-Minority Representation

Many argued that having more sexual- and gender-minority people working within legal systems with both LGBTQ2+ competency and legal expertise would improve legal outcomes for sexual- and gender-minority people. One participant explained:

There would be huge benefits to society and to us LGBTQ folks to have a support they can call upon when encountering various aspects of our legal systems... perhaps there's a list of queer-identifying lawyers out there, just like when we bought a house, we found a gay realtor and we went with their supports and through their advice, same could be said for lawyers.

As this person noted, such LGBTQ2+ competent legal supports also need to be made accessible to community members. For example, these supports should be shared widely through a public directory, and be more accessible to those who face financial barriers. In addition to increasing the number of sexual- and gender-minority legal professionals, participants argued that legal materials must reflect sexual-minority people's experiences, for example by including mention of non-cisheteronormative families in divorce materials.

More Sexual-Minority-Specific Resources

Similarly, participants indicated that there was a need for more LGBTQ2+ specific resources and peer support for sexual- and gender-minority people who are navigating the justice system. For example, one participant stated:

I wish there was a separate LGBTQ+ crisis line because the issues are so different when crises arise, or even just advice lines, something like that would have probably gone a long way, someone to speak with in regards to those types of issues.

Others indicated a need for more community-based sexual- and gender-minority organizations, which are an important resource for LGBTQ2+-competent emotional and social support for sexual- and gender-minority people who are dealing with legal issues. Participants also conveyed that community-oriented supports need to be intersectional to account for the complexities of sexual- and gender-minority people's identities and experiences, with one participant stating:

...really realizing and really seeing my own community, or the gay community or the Native community, that there's no like bridging between different things.

Need to Challenge Cisheterosexism

Other participants argued that cisheterosexist biases within the justice system need to be actively uprooted, since these assumptions shape the way legal problems are framed and resolved. Participants indicated that legal systems should start by acknowledging their existing biases, with one participant suggesting that these institutions "recognize that the policies do discriminate against queer people" As one participant explained, these biases were a source of harm and dehumanization while interacting with legal systems, which served as further incentive to challenge the personal biases of legal personnel:

We ask people to consider their personal bias so that they can understand the way their personal bias informs their approach and considerations and decision making, and I really feel like that would be something that I would invite the system to consider and those people that act as agents of it because that's been, I would say, that human level interaction, that relational level interaction has been for me, anyway, where I've experienced the most harm.

Participants had specific and actionable suggestions about how heteronormativity could be combatted within the legal system, including more easily implementable actions, such as enforcing proper names and pronouns within court settings:

Obviously, space for courts to respect pronouns and names, that are legal names and can still be used in courtrooms, it's not hard. It's nothing we can't figure out if we're committed to it, and so often it feels like we're, the fact that we haven't figured it out means we're not committed to it, which is a way of saying it doesn't matter.

Many of these changes could be implemented through education training for personnel across the justice system to promote empathy and understanding. Such active efforts to produce a more inclusive justice system for sexual- and gender-minority people are needed, as one participant notes:

...[It] requires positive steps on the government's part... It can't be achieved through a passive response and it can't be achieved in response to individuals who have to threaten litigation in order for changes to be made and it is required at every level of government, in every service provided to the public, and it's urgent, it needs to happen urgently. It's been urgent for a long time and trans people are just used to kind of waiting around while people who are not affected don't do anything to make it better.

Ultimately, dismantling cisheterosexism within the justice system requires legal institutions to take action to meaningfully include sexual- and gender-diverse people.

Tools for Navigating the System

Other recommendations from participants included the creation of more easily accessible materials on how to navigate specific types of legal problems through workshops or user-friendly guides. For example, one participant described accessing:

...a number of documents where lawyers kind of break down the human rights process and they kind of like explain how somebody would file a human rights complaint in [province] and what the grounds might be, and basically walking them through the whole process. Something like that for each province would be really helpful.

Decriminalization

Given participants' experiences of the legal system as difficult to navigate, similar guides for other legal problems would also be beneficial. Participants also argued that laws that criminalize sex work and put people who use drugs at risk of incarceration should be eliminated, since these laws continue to be a source of harm for many sexual - and gender-minority people. For example, one participant, whose legal problems were rooted in the ongoing criminalization of sex work, noted:

I have no faith in [the current justice system]... 100% yes, absolutely, other solutions are needed... Like... sex work decriminalizing... would [make us] better [off].

CONCLUSIONS

The findings suggest that sexual- and gender-minority individuals face limited access to adequate legal resources and encounter unique barriers to justice. The data that have been illuminated by this project indicate that these barriers result in sexual- and gender-minority individuals having limited self-determination in and access to Canadian legal systems, which consequently contributes to their disenfranchisement. Access to justice is a complex issue and further investigation is needed to explore all barriers to access. Our findings indicate that access to justice for sexual-minority people will be enhanced by efforts to:

 provide access to legal representation by professionals who are sexual - and genderminority people themselves and/or who understand the unique challenges facing diverse sexual - and gender-minority communities;

- uplift community and informal support systems for individuals who lack adequate access to legal resources;
- provide access to holistic support services, including mental health support services, for sexual- and gender-minority people who have become engaged in legal processes;
- 4) address the financial burden and barriers associated with securing legal counsel, particularly for those with limited resources;
- 5) acknowledge and uproot the legal system's colonial impacts on the lives of Indigenous Two-Spirit and other sexual- or gender-minority people;
- 6) deconstruct systemic, cultural, and structural barriers, such as homophobia, transphobia, and racism that ultimately produce many legal problems and the disenfranchisement of sexual- and gender-minority people;
- 7) explore decarceral and/or restorative justice approaches for sexual and genderminority people who have become engaged in legal processes;
- 8) provide resources for legal professionals (e.g., lawyers, judges, paralegals) on the experiences of sexual- and gender-minority communities, including topics on pronoun use, HIV stigma, transphobia, homophobia, cisheterosexism, settler colonialism, and structural racism;
- 9) produce resources specifically for sexual- and gender-minority people that make complex legal processes more transparent for those who need to navigate this system. These resources should include information on sexual- and gender-minority people's rights when engaging legal systems and avenues for redress if they feel that their rights have been transgressed;
- 10) provide resources on the human rights bodies in each province, the issues they cover, how to access them, and what outcomes can be sought through them.

Additionally, sexual-minority people continue to identify and experience legal systems as homophobic, transphobic, and racist, which in turn undermines trust in the legal system among these communities and has led to a sense of disenchantment with the legal system more broadly. Improving access and confidence in the legal system to protect and support the lives of all sexual- and gender-minority people will require that past harms experienced within this system be acknowledged and actively addressed.

As our data also show, sexual- and gender-minority people who have become engaged in legal processes can also face increased visibility, both within sexual- and gender-minority communities and their broader communities. This increased visibility can compound the stigma they already face as sexual- and gender-minority people, impacting their professional, family, or social lives, and may act as an additional deterrent to accessing the legal system.

Limitations

This study has a number of limitations. The exploratory nature of the data collected through this study cannot capture the full breadth or nuance of sexual- and gender-minority people's experiences with the legal system, as a full qualitative study could have been conducted on any one area of the law that has been briefly discussed in this report. The data contained in this report thus provide a broad sense of various legal issues among sexual-minority people that can serve as a foundation for more focused research into specific legal domains in the future.

The study sample has important limitations on the applicability of findings to all sexual-minority people. Although approximately a quarter of our participants were Indigenous, which provided us with rich data on the impacts of settler colonialism on access to justice, most of the remainder of our sample was white and we were unable to interview any participants who identified as Black. This limits our ability to speak to how anti-Black racism shapes legal problems and interactions with the legal system. Future intersectional research must explore the unique experiences of queer and trans Black, Indigenous, and people of colour (QTBIPOC) within the justice system and to create a greater understanding of the way complex interactions of power and privilege differentials based on gender, race, culture, class, religion, etc. impacts the legal problems faced by sexual- and gender-minority communities. Continued

research is critical in determining the types of systemic changes necessary to improve sexualand gender-minority people's access to legal resources and address social inequalities and discrimination faced by sexual- and gender-minority people throughout their lives.

Additionally, all study participants were from British Columbia, Alberta, and Manitoba. We had no participants from Saskatchewan, which limits our ability to speak to sexual- and gender-minority people's experiences in that province. Since access to legal processes, such as human rights bodies, varies across provinces, additional work should be conducted to explore how access to justice for sexual-minority people varies across regions and between rural and urban areas.

Finally, while some of our participants had experience working within the legal system, we did not specifically seek to interview legal professionals who work with sexual-minority community members. Sexual- and gender-minority legal professionals – including lawyers, paralegals, frontline workers, case managers, settlement workers, court interpreters, and prison system staff – likely possess a complementary "insider's" view of how the legal system works for sexual-minority people and should be engaged in future research.

Overall, our data demonstrate that despite advancements in legal protections, which appear to make legal systems more equitable for sexual-minority people in Canada, sexual-minority people continue to face disproportionate and systemic barriers in access to justice across a range of legal domains. Additional community-based research that foregrounds the voices of community members and restores agency to participants is needed to explore the continued impacts of these barriers on sexual- and gender-minority people's lives. Ultimately, improving access to justice for sexual-minority people will require meaningful deconstruction of systemic barriers such as heterosexism, homophobia, transphobia, racism, and settler colonialism, in addition to formal legal protections.

Glossary

*This glossary is not exhaustive and pertains only to terms found in this report. Most of the definitions are based on the *Gender and Sexual Diversity Glossary* found on this <u>Canadian</u> government website (Termium).

Cisgender: Refers to people whose gender identity aligns with the sex assigned at their birth.

Cisheterosexism: A complex set of structures, institutions, relations, and actions that promote and produce being cisgender and heterosexual as natural, self-evident, desirable, privileged, and necessary.

Decarceration: The practice or policy – often tied to community campaigns – of reducing the number of people subject to imprisonment. <u>Source</u>: https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/decarceration.

Gender Identity: A profound feeling or sense of being a man, woman, or any space within the gender spectrum.

Heterosexual: Refers to any person who is sexually attracted to people of the opposite or different sex.

Homophobia: Fear, hatred, or hostility towards sexual-minority people.

LGBTQ2+: An acronym for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer (or Questioning), and Two-Spirit.

Microaggression: The everyday, subtle, intentional — and oftentimes unintentional — interactions or behaviors that communicate some sort of bias toward historically marginalized groups. <u>Source</u>: https://www.npr.org/2020/06/08/872371063/microaggressions-are-a-big-deal-how-to-talk-them-out-and-when-to-walk-away.

Misgender: Attributing a gender to a person that does not agree with their stated gender identity. This can include incorrect pronouns, titles, or words that differ from the person's actual gender.

Queer: A previously derogatory term for sexual minorities that has been reclaimed by some individuals in the LGBTQ2+ community to empower and establish identity.

Restorative Justice: An approach to justice that focuses on addressing the harm caused by crime while holding the offender responsible for their actions, by providing an opportunity for the parties directly affected by the crime – victims, offenders, and communities – to identify and address their needs in the aftermath of a crime. <u>Source</u>: https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/cj-jp/rj-jr/index.html.

Settler Colonialism: An ongoing system of power that perpetuates the genocide and repression of Indigenous peoples and cultures. Settler colonialism normalizes continuous settler occupation and presumes the superiority of white European values over Indigenous forms of knowing and being. Occupation and presumes the superiority of white European values over Indigenous forms of knowing and being. Occupation and presumes the superiority of white European values over Indigenous forms of knowing and being. Source: https://www.oxfordbibliographies.com/view/document/obo-9780190221911-0029.xml.

Transphobia: The fear, hatred, disbelief, or mistrust of people who are transgender, thought to be transgender, or whose gender expression doesn't conform to traditional gender roles.

<u>Source: https://www.plannedparenthood.org/learn/gender-identity/transgender/whats-transphobia.</u>

References

- 1. Kinsman G. *The Regulation of Desire: Homo and Hetero Sexualities*. 2nd ed. Montreal: Black Rose Books; 1996.
- 2. Warner T. *Never Going Back: A History of Queer Activism in Canada*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press; 2002.
- 3. Smith M. *Political Institutions and Lesbian and Gay Rights in the United States and Canada*. New York: Routledge; 2008.
- 4. Kinsman G. The Canadian Cold War on Queers: Sexual Regulation and Resistance.
 In: Queerly Canadian: An Introductory Reader in Sexuality Studies. Toronto: Canadian Scholars' Press; 2012:65-79.
- 5. Kallen E. Gay and Lesbian Rights Issues: A Comparative Analysis of Sydney, Australia and Toronto, Canada. *Human Rights Quarterly*. 1996;18(1):206-222.
- 6. Mazur P. Gay and Lesbian Rights in Canada: A Comparative Study. *International Journal of Public Administration*. 2002;25(1):45-62. doi:10.1081/PAD-120006538
- 7. Pierceson J. Courts Liberalism And Rights: Gay Law And Politics In The United States and Canada. Philadelphia: Temple University Press; 2005.
- Gahagan J, Subirana-Malaret M. Improving pathways to primary health care among LGBTQ populations and health care providers: key findings from Nova Scotia, Canada. *International Journal for Equity in Health*. 2018; 17(1): 76. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-018-0786-0
- 9. Steele LS, Daley A, Curling D, Gibson MF, Green DC, Williams CC, et al. LGBT identity, untreated depression, and unmet need for mental health services by sexual-minority women and trans-identified people. *Journal of Women's Health*. 2017;26(2):116-27. doi:10.1089/jwh.2015.5677
- 10. Ross L, Gibson MF, Daley A, Steele L, Williams C. In spite of the system: A qualitatively-driven mixed methods analysis of the mental health services experiences of LGBTQ

- people living in poverty in Ontario, Canada. *PLoS ONE.* 2018;13(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201437
- 11. McIntyre J, Daley A, Rutherford K, Ross LE. Systems-level barriers in accessing supportive mental health services for sexual and gender minorities: Insights from the provider's perspective. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health*. 2011;30(2):173-86. https://doi.org/10.7870/cjcmh-2011-0023
- Dysart-Gale D. Social Justice and Social Determinants of Health: Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgendered, Intersexed, and Queer Youth in Canada: Social Justice and Social Determinants of Health. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*.
 2010;23(1):23-28. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6171.2009.00213.x
- 13. Vermeir E, Jackson LA, Marshall EG. Barriers to primary and emergency healthcare for trans adults. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*. 2018;20(2):232-246. doi:10.1080/13691058.2017.1338757
- 14. Ylioja T, Craig SL. Exclusionary health policy: responding to the risk of poor health among sexual-minority youth in Canada. *Social work in public health*. 2014;29(1): 81–86. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2011.619936
- 15. Lachowsky N, Grace D. Canadian Blood Services should screen for behaviour, not sexual orientation. *The Georgia Straight*. https://www.straight.com/life/1253231/nathan-lachowsky-and-daniel-grace-canadian-blood-services-should-screen-behaviour-not. Published June 11, 2019. Accessed January 16, 2020.
- Grace D, Gaspar M, Lessard D, et al. Gay and bisexual men's views on reforming blood donation policy in Canada: a qualitative study. *BMC Public Health*. 2019;19(1):772. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7123-4
- 17. Waite S, Ecker J, Ross LE. A systematic review and thematic synthesis of Canada's LGBTQ2S+ employment, labour market and earnings literature. *PLoS ONE*. 2019;14(10):e0223372. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0223372

- Carpenter CS. Sexual orientation, work, and income in Canada: Sexual orientation, work, and income. Canadian Journal of Economics. 2008; 4: 1239–1261.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5982.2008.00502.x
- 19. Waite S, Denier N. Gay Pay for Straight Work: Mechanisms Generating Disadvantage. *Gender & Society*. 2015; 29: 561–588. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243215584761
- 20. Denier N, Waite S. Sexual Orientation Wage Gaps across Local Labour Market Contexts: Evidence from Canada. *Industrial Relations*. 2018;72(4):734-762. doi:10.7202/1043174ar
- 21. Cotter A. Sexual misconduct in the Canadian Armed Forces. Statistics Canada; 2016 [cited 2020 Nov 24]. Available from: http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection 2016/statcan/85-603-x2016001-eng.pdf
- 22. Wathen CN, MacGregor JCD, Tanaka M, MacQuarrie BJ. The impact of intimate partner violence on the health and work of gender and sexual minorities in Canada. *International Journal of Public Health*. 2018;63(8):945-55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-018-1127-1(0123456789)
- 23. Fournier M. Homosexuality in the Army and Police: Progress Achieved and Experiments Lived by Gay Soldiers, Police Officers, and Gay Police According to their Own Point of View. 2005 [cited 2020 Nov 24]. Available from: http://myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/login?url = https://search.proquest.com/docview/61656084?accountid=14771
- 24. DeSouza ER, Wesselmann ED, Ispas D. Workplace Discrimination against Sexual Minorities: Subtle and not-so-subtle. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*. 2017;
 34: 121–132. doi: 10.1002/cjas.1438.
- 25. Ecker J, Aubry T, Sylvestre J. Pathways Into Homelessness Among LGBTQ2S Adults. *Journal of Homosexuality*. 2019; 67(11) 1625-1643. doi:10.1080/00918369.2019.1600902

- 26. Abramovich I. No Safe Place to Go LGBTQ Youth Homelessness in Canada: Reviewing the Literature. Canadian Journal of Family and Youth. 2012; 4(1): 29-51. https://doi.org/10.29173/cjfy16579
- 27. Smith A, Saewyc E, Albert M, MacKay L, Northcott M, Society, TM. *Against the odds: A profile of marginalized and street-involved youth in BC*. Vancouver: McCreary Centre Society, 2007.
- 28. Shelton J, Dechants J, Bender K, Hsu H, Maria DS, Petering R, et al. Homelessness and Housing Experiences among LGBTQ Young Adults in Seven U.S. Cities. *Cityscape: A Journal of Policy Development and Research*. 2018; 20(3): 9-34.
- 29. Abramovich IA. No fixed address: Young, queer, and restless. In: Gaetz S, O'Grady B, Buccieri K, Karabanow J, Marsolais A, editors. Youth homelessness in Canada: Implications for policy and practice. Toronto, ON: Canadian Homelessness Research Network Press; 2013.
- 30. Abramovich A. Understanding how policy and culture create oppressive conditions for LGBTQ2S youth in the shelter system. *Journal of Homosexuality*. 2017;64(11):1484-501. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2016.1244449
- 31. Rinaldi J, Fernando S. Queer Credibility in the Homonation-State: Interrogating the Affective Impacts of Credibility Assessments on Racialized Sexual-minority Refugee Claimants. *Refuge*. 2019; 35(1): 32–42. https://doi.org/10.7202/1060673ar
- 32. Hersh N. Challenges to Assessing Same-Sex Relationships under Refugee Law in Canada. *McGill Law Journal / Revue de droit de McGill*. 2015;60(3): 527–571. https://doi.org/10.7202/1032678ar
- 33. Murray DB. Queer Forms: Producing Documentation in Sexual Orientation Refugee Cases. *Anthropological Quarterly*. 2016;89(2): 465-484. doi:10.1353/anq.2016.0035.
- 34. McDonald-Norman D. No One to Bear Witness: Country Information and LGBTQ Asylum Seekers. *Refuge*. 2017;33(2): 88-100. https://doi.org/10.7202/1043066ar

- 35. Giwa S, Chaze F. Positive enough? A content analysis of settlement service organizations' inclusivity of LGBTQ immigrants. Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services: The *Quarterly Journal of Community & Clinical Practice*. 2018;30(3):220-43. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538720.2018.1463889
- 36. Mulé NJ. Same-sex marriage and Canadian relationship recognition One step forward, two steps back: A critical liberationist perspective. Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services: *The Quarterly Journal of Community & Clinical Practice*. 2010;22(1-2):74-90. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538720903332354
- 37. Fowler E. A Queer Critique on the Polygamy Debate in Canada: Law, Culture, and Diversity. Dalhousie Journal of Legal Studies. 2012;21:93-125.
- 38. Ross L, Epstein R, Goldfinger C, Steele L, Anderson S, Strike C. Lesbian and queer mothers navigating the adoption system: The impacts on mental health. *Health Sociology Review*. 2008;17(3):254-66. https://doi.org/10.5172/hesr.451.17.3.254
- 39. Ross LE, Epstein R, Anderson S, Eady A. Policy, practice, and personal narratives: Experiences of LGBTQ people with adoption in Ontario, Canada. *Adoption Quarterly*. 2009;12(3-4):272-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926750903313302
- 40. Nazaretian Z. Social Status, Opportunity And Repeat Victimization: The Unequal Distribution Of Safety. Wayne State University Dissertations. 2014.
 https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa dissertations/993
- 41. Angeles LC, Roberton J. Empathy and inclusive public safety in the city: Examining LGBTQ2+ voices and experiences of intersectional discrimination. *Women's Studies International Forum*. 2020;78: 102313. doi:10.1016/j.wsif.2019.102313
- 42. Socías ME, Deering K, Horton M, Nguyen P, Montaner JS, Shannon K. Social and Structural Factors Shaping High Rates of Incarceration among Sex Workers in a Canadian Setting. *Journal of Urban Health*. 2015; 92(5): 966–979. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-015-9977-9

- 43. Lenti E. After decades of mistreatment, how can police fix their relationship with LGBTQ2 communities? Xtra, July 29, 2019. https://xtramagazine.com/power/after-decades-of-mistreatment-how-can-police-fix-their-relationship-with-lgbtq2-communities-160006
- 44. Whitehead, J., Dawson, M., & Hotton, T. (2020). Same-Sex Intimate Partner Violence in Canada: Prevalence, Characteristics, and Types of Incidents Reported to Police Services. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519897342
- 45. Russell B, Sturgeon JA. Police evaluations of intimate partner violence in heterosexual and same-sex relationships: Do experience and training play a role? *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*. 2018; 34: 34-44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11896-018-9279-8
- 46. Cormier N, Woodworth M. Do you see what I see? The influence of gender stereotypes on student and Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) perceptions of violent same-sex and opposite-sex relationships. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment and Trauma*. 2008;17(4):478–505. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926770802463446
- 47. Meyer IH, Flores AR, Stemple L, Romero AP, Wilson BDM, Herman JL. Incarceration Rates and Traits of Sexual Minorities in the United States: National Inmate Survey, 2011–2012.

 Am J Public Health. 2017;107(2):267-273. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2016.303576.
- 48. Card KG, Selfridge M, Greer AM, et al. Event-level outcomes of police interactions with young people in three non-metropolitan cities across British Columbia, Canada.

 International Journal of Drug Policy. Published online June 2020:102824.

 doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102824
- 49. Smith M. Homophobia and Homonationalism: LGBTQ Law Reform in Canada. *Social & Legal Studies*. 2020;29(1):65-84. doi:10.1177/0964663918822150
- 50. Knight R, Krüsi A, Carson A, Fast D, Shannon K, Shoveller J. Criminalization of HIV non-disclosure: Narratives from young men living in Vancouver, Canada. Clark JL, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2018;13(7):e0201110. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0201110

- 51. Grace D. Intersectional Analysis at the Medico-Legal Borderland: HIV Testing Innovations and the Criminalization of HIV Non-Disclosure. In Wilson AR, (eds) Situating Intersectionality. The Politics of Intersectionality. Palgrave Macmillan: New York. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137025135_8
- 52. Savage S, Braund R, Stewart T, Brennan DJ. How could I tell them that it's going to be okay? The impact of HIV nondisclosure criminalization on service provision to people living with HIV. Journal of HIV/AIDS & Social Services. 2017;16(3):287-300. https://doi.org/10.1080/15381501.2016.1261263
- 53. Guenther L, Taylor C. Introduction: Queer, Trans, and Feminist Responses to the Prison Nation. philoSOPHIA. 2016;6(1):1-8. doi:10.1353/phi.2016.0002
- 54. Daley A, Radford K. Queer and Trans Incarceration Distress: Considerations from a Mad Queer Abolitionist Perspective. In: Mills A, Kendall K, eds. Mental Health in Prisons.

 Springer International Publishing; 2018:285-307. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-94090-8_12
- 55. Godley J. Everyday Discrimination In Canada: Prevalence And Patterns. *Canadian Journal of Sociology*. 43(2):111-142. https://doi.org/10.29173/cjs29346
- 56. Jewell LM, Morrison MA. "But There's a Million Jokes About Everybody . . .": Prevalence of, and Reasons for, Directing Negative Behaviors Toward Gay Men on a Canadian University Campus. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. 2010;25(11):2094-2112. doi:10.1177/0886260509354499
- 57. Faulkner E. Homophobic Sexist Violence in Canada: Trends in the Experiences of Lesbian and Bisexual Women in Canada. *Canadian Woman Studies*. 2006;25(1/2):154-161.
- 58. Bucik A. Canada: Discrimination and Violence against Lesbian, Bisexual, and Transgender Women and Gender Diverse and Two Spirit People on the Basis of Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity and Gender Expression. Egale Canada Human Rights Trust; 2016 [cited 2020 Nov 25]. Available from: https://egale.ca/awareness/cedaw/

- 59. Taylor C, Peter T. 'We are not aliens, we're people, and we have rights' Canadian human rights discourse and high school climate for LGBTQ students. *Canadian Review of Sociology*. 2011;48(3):275-312. doi:10.1111/j.1755-618x.2011.01266.x
- 60. Galletta A, Cross W. Mastering the semi-structured interview and beyond: From research design to analysis and publication. New York: New York University Press; 2013.
- 61. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage; 1985.
- 62. Community-Based Research Centre G.R.O.W. + L.I.F.T.: A checklist for community-research engagement. 2018. https://www.cbrc.net/g_r_o_w_l_i_f_t. Accessed 27 Nov 2020.
- 63. Nadal KL, Whitman CN, Davis LS, Erazo T, Davidoff KC. Microaggressions toward lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and genderqueer people: A review of the literature. *J Sex Res.* 2016;53(4-5):488-508. DOI 10.1080/00224499.2016.114495.
- 64. Cho S, Crenshaw KW, McCall L. Toward a field of intersectionality studies: Theory, applications, and praxis. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*. 2013;38(4):785–810. https://doi.org/10.1086/669608.
- 65. Cameron D, Kulick D. Language and sexuality. Cambridge University Press; 2003.
- 66. The Provincial Court of British Columbia. NP 24: Form of Address for Parties and Lawyers.

 December 16, 2020. Available here.
- 67. Carpenter CS. Sexual orientation, work, and income in Canada: Sexual orientation, work, and income. *Canadian Journal of Economics*. 2008; 4: 1239–1261. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5982.2008.00502.x.
- 68. Roe S. "Family Support Would Have Been Like Amazing": LGBTQ Youth Experiences With Parental and Family Support. The Family Journal. 2017;25(1):55-62. doi:10.1177/1066480716679651.

APPENDIX A: RECRUITMENT SCRIPT AND ELIGIBILITY SCREENER

Request for Participants – "A Qualitative Look at Serious Legal Problems: LGBTQ2+ People in Western Canada"

The Community Based Research Centre Society, with funding from the Department of Justice Canada, is seeking participants for a new interview study documenting serious legal problems faced by lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, queer, and Two-Spirit people in Western Canada (including British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba). If you identify as LGBTQ2+ and have experienced a serious legal problem in the past three years, you may be eligible to participate.

If you are eligible and consent to participate, you will be asked to complete a qualitative interview with a peer researcher over the phone or over Zoom. The interviewer will ask you to share your experiences of serious legal problems and barriers to accessing justice in Canada over the last three years. Your contributions will help to illuminate the legal challenges facing lesbian, gay, and bisexual people. The interview will take approximately 60-90 minutes, and you will be provided with a \$50 honorarium as a thank you for your time.

In order to be included in this study, you must identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, queer, or Two-Spirit, or as another sexual-minority. Additionally, you must have experienced a serious legal problem (as outlined in our eligibility screener) in the last three years, be 16 years of age or older, and be able to complete an interview in English in order to be eligible. You do not have to have engaged in legal action to be eligible.

If you are interested in participating, please complete the following eligibility screener on Survey Monkey: [insert link]. The screener will ask some demographic questions about yourself and about different types of legal problems you've experienced. You will be asked to provide a name, phone number, and email address so that we can contact you for follow-up. Your contact information will be kept confidential and stored securely on encrypted servers at the University of Victoria. If you are selected to participate in an interview, this information will be destroyed once we have successfully contacted you. Personal information will be destroyed for

participants who are not selected for an interview. If you decide you would like to withdraw from the study, you will have your contact information erased from the servers.

Your contact information will not be shared with the Department of Justice or outside of our research team. However, Survey Monkey servers are located in the United States and as such please be advised that there is a possibility that information about you gathered as part of this research study may be accessed without your knowledge or consent by the US government in compliance with the US Freedom Act.

Participation in this research is voluntary and potential participants are under no obligation to participate. Choosing to participate or not will not affect your ability to access services, standing, or relationships where you might have heard about this study.

If you are not eligible to participate, your contact information will be deleted. All participants, regardless of eligibility, will receive a list of mental health resources that are local to their area. If you experience any negative mental health impacts as a result of your participation, we encourage you to contact these resources. These mental health resources will be low or no barrier and inclusive of LGBTQ2+ communities. You are also able to bring a support person of your choosing with you to your interview if you would like. Support persons will be required to sign a confidentiality agreement to ensure that the information you share in the interview will not be communicated outside of the interview context.

Please note, the research team cannot provide any legal advice and that the researchers are not able to support the research participants with their legal proceedings.

If you have any questions about this research project, please contact CBRC's Research Manager, Ben Klassen at ben.klassen@cbrc.net.

This study is being led by Nathan Lachowsky (University of Victoria, Community-Based Research Centre), Jody Jollimore (Community-Based Research Centre), Daniel Grace (University of Toronto), Olivier Ferlatte (Université de Montréal), Rod Knight (University of British Columbia), and Travis Salway (Simon Fraser University).

SERIOUS LEGAL PROBLEMS – ELIGIBILITY SCREENER

To be hosted on Survey Monkey; data collected will be stored securely and kept confidential Introduction: Thank you for your interest in participating in this research project entitled "A Qualitative Look at Serious Legal Problems: LGBTQ2+ People in Western Canada." The questions asked in this survey will help to determine whether you are eligible to participate in this study. We are seeking a diverse group of participants in terms of sexual and gender identities, race/ethnicity, and the nature of legal problems experienced, which is why it is important to ask these questions.

At the end of the survey, you will be asked to provide a name, phone number, and email address so that we can contact you for follow-up. Your contact information will be kept confidential and will not be shared with the Department of Justice or outside of our research team. If you have any questions about this research project, please contact CBRC's Research Manager, Ben Klassen at ben.klassen@cbrc.net.

- 1. How old are you?
- 2. Where do you currently reside?
 - a. British Columbia
 - b. Alberta
 - c. Saskatchewan
 - d. Manitoba
 - e. Ontario
 - f. Quebec
 - g. Newfoundland & Labrador
 - h. New Brunswick
 - i. Nova Scotia
 - j. Prince Edward Island

	k. Yukon
	I. Northwest Territories
	m. Nunavut
	n. Outside of Canada [ineligible]
3.	How do you typically describe your sexual identity?
	a. Lesbian
	b. Gay
	c. Bisexual
	d. Queer
	e. Straight
	f. I prefer to use another term (please describe):
4.	How do you typically describe your gender identity?
	a. Man
	b. Woman
	c. Non-binary
	d. I prefer to use another term (please describe):
5.	Do you have lived experience as trans, a history of gender transition, or identify as
	transgender?
	a. Yes
	b. No
6.	What is your gender expression/presentation?
	a. Mostly feminine
	b. Mostly androgynous

- c. Mostly masculine
- d. Fluidity between expressions
- 7. How do you describe your race/ethnicity? (Check all that apply)
 - a. African
 - b. Arab, West Asian (e.g. Iranian, Afghan)
 - c. Black
 - d. Caribbean
 - e. East Asian (e.g. Chinese, Japanese, Korean)
 - f. Indigenous
 - g. Latin American, Hispanic
 - h. South Asian (e.g. East Indian, Pakistani, Sri Lankan)
 - i. Southeast Asian (e.g. Filipino, Vietnamese, Thai)
 - j. White
 - k. I prefer not to answer
 - I. Other (please specify)
- 8. If you are Indigenous, are you Two-Spirit?
 - a. I am Indigenous and Two-Spirit
 - b. I am Indigenous but not Two-Spirit
 - c. I am not Indigenous
- 9. How would you describe your money situation in the past 12 months?
 - a. Comfortable, with extra
 - b. Enough, but no extra
 - c. Have to cut back

- d. Cannot make ends meet
- 10. In the past three years, did you have a serious legal dispute or problem in relation to... (Check all that apply):
 - a. A **large purchase** or service where you did not get what you paid for and the seller did not fix the problem (e.g., a home, renovations, vehicles).
 - b. Your **employer or your job**, excluding personal injuries (e.g., not receiving pay for vacation, overtime, severance, maternity, sick leave, or employment insurance benefits, unfair dismissal or disciplinary procedures, or a health and safety issue).
 - c. A **personal injury** or serious health issue that occurred at work, in a commercial establishment, in a traffic accident or any other public place.
 - d. Your **neighbourhood** such as vandalism, property damage, threats or excessive noise.
 - e. Your **house**, your rent, your mortgage, or rent owed to you (e.g. foreclosure, collecting rent, eviction).
 - f. Money you owe (**debt**) or collecting money owed to you, excluding rent and housing issues (e.g. declaring bankruptcy, collection agency issues or credit issues).
 - g. Obtaining social or housing assistance, old age security or guaranteed income supplement or other **government assistance** or with the amount received (excluding disability assistance)
 - h. Obtaining **disability assistance** or with the amount received (e.g. disability pension income, private insurance companies, workers compensation, benefits for disabled children).
 - i. **Immigration**, refugee status or sponsoring a family member's application to immigrate to Canada.

- j. Contact with the **police** or other part of the criminal justice system involving being stopped, accused, charged, detained, arrested, or with pardons
- k. Contact with the **police** or other part of the criminal justice system **as a victim or a witness** of a crime
- I. A breakdown of your **family or relationship** such as a divorce or separation, excluding child custody problems (e.g. spousal support or division of property)
- m. **Child custody** or other problem involving parental responsibilities (e.g. child protection or welfare services).
- n. **A will**, or taking care of financial or health issues for a person who was unable to look after themselves.
- Poor or incorrect medical treatment (e.g. harmed while being treated by a medical professional).
- p. Civil court proceedings or a letter threatening legal action over a civil matter (e.g. breach of contract, landlord tenant issues, or suing for money for damages or obtaining recovery from injuries).
- q. Being **harassed** (e.g. at school, university or work, in a public place or in a commercial establishment). Harassment is any improper conduct by an individual that is directed at and offensive to another individual and that the individual knew or should reasonably have known would cause offence or harm.
- r. Being **discriminated against** (e.g. at school, university or work, in a public place or in a commercial establishment). Discrimination means treating someone differently or unfairly because of a personal characteristic or distinction, which, whether intentional or not, has an effect that imposes disadvantages not imposed on others or that withholds or limits access that is given to others.
- s. Your use or possession of **criminalized drugs** or narcotics
- t. Disclosure of your **HIV status** (i.e., criminalization of HIV non-disclosure)

v. Any other issue – Specify:
w. I did not experience a serious problem
If you answered yes to any of the above legal disputes or problems, did your legal
problem include interactions with the justice system? (eg. police officer, a lawyer, a
court, etc.)
If you answered yes to any of the above legal problems, please provide us with a very
brief (2-4 sentences) description of the legal problems you faced. We are asking this
because we want to ensure that we capture a wide range of legal problems in the
project. During an interview we would ask for more detail of your experience.
[write-in response]
If you are interested in participating in the project, please provide your name, phone
number and email address so that we can follow-up with you. This information will be
kept confidential and will not be shared outside of our research team.
Name (can be a pseudonym):
Phone:
Email address:

u. Involvement in sex work

APPENDIX B: INDIVIDUAL INTERVIEW CONSENT AGREEMENT

You are being invited to participate in a research study, entitled "A Qualitative Look at Serious Legal Problems – LGBTQ2+ People in Western Canada." Please read this consent form so that you understand what your participation will involve. Before you consent to participate, please ask any questions to be sure you understand what your participation will involve.

A Qualitative Look at Serious Legal Problems: LGBTQ2+People in Western Canada

Investigators

Nathan Lachowsky (University of Victoria, Community-Based Research Centre), Jody Jollimore (Community-Based Research Centre), Daniel Grace (University of Toronto), Olivier Ferlatte (Université de Montréal), Rod Knight (University of British Columbia), Travis Salway (Simon Fraser University).

Purpose of the Study

You are being asked to share your experiences of serious legal problems and barriers to accessing justice in Canada over the last three years. Your contributions will help to illuminate the legal challenges facing lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, queer, and Two-Spirit (LGBTQ2+) people in Canada today. This study is funded by the Department of Justice, Government of Canada.

Study Procedure

If you agree to participate in this study, you will be asked to take part in an interview either over the phone or using the internet service Zoom. The interview will take approximately 1.5 hours and will be conducted by a trained peer research team member. In the interview, you will be asked to share your personal experiences of serious legal challenges and barriers to accessing justice in Canada over the last three years. The interview will be audio-recorded and transcribed by research staff.

Eligibility

In order to be included in this study, you must identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, queer, or Two-Spirit, or as another sexual minority. Additionally, you must have experienced a serious legal problem (as outlined in our eligibility screener) in the last three years, be 16 years of age or older, and be able to complete an interview in English in order to be eligible. You do not have to have engaged in legal action to be eligible.

Risks and Benefits

There are limited risks associated with this study. However, we acknowledge that recounting experiences of legal problems, including violence or discrimination, can be emotionally difficult. If our discussion brings up any emotional or traumatic experiences, we will provide a list of mental health services that you are encouraged to access for support. If you have negative reactions to any questions, you may choose not to answer a question. You may also choose to discontinue and withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. Your participation or lack thereof in this study will in no way affect any services that you might receive now or in the future from any organization.

For the interviews, we will be using a program called Zoom that may store data in the US. As such, there is a possibility that information about you may be accessed without your knowledge or consent by the US government in compliance with the US Freedom Act. There are a few things you can do to help protect your information, including:

- 1. using only a nickname, substitute name, or a name that feels more comfortable for you;
- 2. turning off your camera;
- 3. muting your microphone when you are not talking.

Along with this consent form, you will find a resource list for local mental health resources that are low-cost or free. If you experience any negative feelings or thoughts as a product of participating in this study, we encourage you to reach out to these resources for support. The person who will be conducting the interview will also check in with you at the end of your interview and will remind you of this resource list if appropriate. You are also able to bring a

support person of your choosing with you to your interview if you would like. Support persons will be required to sign a confidentiality agreement to ensure that the information you share in the interview will not be communicated outside of the interview context.

A potential benefit of your participation is that the experiences you share may be used by the Department of Justice to shape and improve legal policy impacting LGBTQ2+ communities and people in the future.

Incentive for Participation:

You will be compensated \$50 cash for your participation. Compensation (\$50) will still be provided if you choose to withdraw, and you may decide if any input you provided in the interview up until your withdrawal shall be used. The honorarium will be provided to you in the form of an e-transfer to the email address that you used when you signed up for the study. If you would prefer to have a cheque mailed to you instead of an e-transfer, please let us know.

Participant Rights

You are free to withdraw at any time from this project without any penalty or prejudice. In addition, you are under no obligation to reveal identifying information. Compensation (\$50) will still be provided if you choose to withdraw, and you may decide if any input you provided in the interview up until your withdrawal will be used. You can also request to have something specific you said excluded from the transcription by telling the interviewer, who will make note of this. Following transcription and anonymization, you will be given an opportunity to review and approve a final transcript for use.

Participation in this research is voluntary and potential participants are under no obligation to participate. Choosing to participate or not will not affect your ability to access services, standing, or relationships where you might have heard about this study.

Please note, the research team cannot provide any legal advice and the researchers are not able to support the research participants with their legal proceedings.

Confidentiality

Interview data will be stored on an encrypted server at the University of Victoria and consent forms will be stored separately in a locked filing cabinet. Data will be transferred to study team members at other universities via Sync and stored solely on secure university servers. Only our study team and will have access to the data. All interview recordings will be deleted following transcription and transcripts will be anonymized prior to analysis. All identifying information will be removed. All data collected, including transcriptions, will be deleted in its entirety seven years after the completion of the study.

You may use pseudonyms and avoid sharing identifying information (e.g., place of birth) if you wish to further minimize the risk of identification. We ask that you do not share the names or identifying information of people who have not agreed to participate in this study.

Confidentiality will be protected within the limits of the law. In accordance with the Wigmore Criteria (http://www.sfu.ca/~palys/Wigmore.html), the privacy of participant data precedes any responsibility to report or discuss these activities to state authorities in principle. However, if you are under the age of 18 (19 in some jurisdictions) and disclose experiences of abuse or neglect, or if the research team suspects abuse or neglect, the research team has a duty to report these interactions to the child protective services in your region. Additionally, there may be rare circumstances where we are unable to protect confidential research materials, for example, if these materials are under subpoena and/or are forcibly seized by the police. In order to mitigate this risk, recordings will be deleted upon transcription, transcripts will be fully anonymized, and we will destroy all participant contact information upon completion of the interview and receipt of honoraria.

The results will be shared with academic, governmental, and community audiences. Quotes from participants in the interviews may be included in conference presentations, journal articles, teaching materials, community events, and summaries or reports provided to the Department of Justice. Additionally, results from the study will be available to participants in the form of a short community report that will summarize our main findings, which will be available on the CBRC website and through partner organizations. We will also conduct a public

webinar where our findings will be shared and additional input from LGBTQ2+ communities will be sought. Results will also be shared at community-oriented conferences and events, such as CBRC's annual Health Summit. Finally, we will leverage our experience in intervention development to produce a toolkit for LGBTQ2+ people that will succinctly highlight the common legal challenges and barriers to justice faced by our participants, along with a compilation of resources for legal resolutions to such challenges. All quotes presented in our results will be selected to ensure participants are non-identifiable.

Finally, the researchers will at all times comply with the Tri-Council ethical guidelines for research with human participants.

Questions About the Research?

If you have questions about the research in general, about your role in the study, would like to share your experience with the study, or would like to share concerns about the study please contact:

Ben Klassen Dr. Nathan Lachowsky

Research Manager Principal Investigator

Community-Based Research Centre University of Victoria

604-568-7478 250-472-5739

ben.klassen@cbrc.net nlachowsky@uvic.ca

This research has been reviewed by the University of Victoria's Research Ethics Board and conforms to the standards of the Canadian Tri-Council Research Ethics guidelines. In addition, you may verify the ethical approval of this study, or raise any concerns you might have, by contacting the Human Research Ethics Office at the University of Victoria (250-472-4545 or ethics@uvic.ca).

Verbal Consent	provided via p	ohone (and in	ndicated by	the interviewe	r):
-----------------------	----------------	---------------	-------------	----------------	-----

I understand these are voluntary procedures and that I am free to withdraw at any time by contacting the Principal Investigator. I understand that confidentiality will be respected
Interviewer Name & Signature:
Date:
Time:/hh/mm

APPENDIX C: INTERVIEW GUIDE

A Qualitative Look at Serious Legal Problems: LGBTQ2+ People in Western Canada

Introductions and Rapport Building

- 1. What motivated you to come in to do this interview today?
 - a. Could you tell me about your interest in this project?
 - b. Where did you hear about this project?
- 2. Would you mind starting by telling me a bit about yourself?
 - a. What is your age?
 - b. How do you usually describe your cultural background?
 - c. How do you usually describe your sexual identity and gender (e.g., gay, bi, queer, man, gender queer, trans, etc.)?
 - d. Is there anything else about yourself that you think might be helpful for me to know before we move on? For example, are you currently working or studying somewhere?

Legal Problems Facing LGBTQ2+ Communities – General

- 3. Before I ask you about your personal experiences, are there any legal challenges that your communities (e.g., other LGBTQ2+ people) more broadly are facing?
 - a. Generally, what kinds of legal problems or challenges do your communities experience, if any?
- 4. Before this interview, you completed a brief online screener that asked you to identify any serious legal problems you faced in the last three years. Could you describe your recent legal problems for me?
 - a. For example: what was the nature of the problem? When did it occur? Who was involved?

- b. [if needed] On the screener, you mentioned the following legal problems... Can you tell me a bit more about those?
- c. Are there other legal problems you experienced that we did not ask about or that you did not initially mention? If so, please describe these.
- 5. [If experienced more than one legal problem] How were these problems connected, if at all?
 - a. Please describe how these legal problems intersected or overlapped.
- 6. When you first became aware of these challenges, to what extent did you understand the possible legal implications?
 - a. How much did you know about where to get information and advice about resolving it?
 - b. Were the resources supportive of you as an LGBTQ2+ person?
- 7. Did your sexual orientation and/or gender identity contribute to your experiences? If so, how? If not, why?
 - a. How about other aspects of your identity? For example: age, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status
 - b. In other words, were your legal problems related to any of the following: sexism, homophobia, transphobia, racism, ageism, etc.? If so, how?

Serious Legal Problems - Discrimination and Harassment

- 8. [If participant indicated experiences of harassment] Can you describe the harassment you experienced? Harassment is when someone offends or upsets another person on purpose (i.e., they knew their actions would cause offence or harm).
 - a. Where did you experience harassment (e.g., school, in a store, at work, when dealing with police)?

- b. Was the discrimination based on any aspects of your identity? (e.g., race, colour, ethnicity; Indigenous identity; religion; age; sex, gender identity or expression; sexual orientation; marital status; family status; a physical or mental disability; language, etc.)
- c. What was that experience like for you?
- 9. [If participant indicated experiences of discrimination] Can you describe the discrimination you experienced? Discrimination means treating someone differently or unfairly because of who they are or how they identify.
 - a. In what types of situations have you experienced discrimination (e.g., school, in a store, at work, when dealing with police)?
 - b. What aspects of your identity was the discrimination based on? (e.g., race, colour, ethnicity; Indigenous identity; religion; age; sex, gender identity or expression; sexual orientation; marital status; family status; a physical or mental disability; language, etc.)
 - c. What was that experience like for you?

Addressing and Resolving Legal Problems

- 10. Did you attempt to address the legal problems you faced? Why or why not?
 - a. What would a resolution to these problems look like from your perspective? What would justice look like?
- 11. [if applicable] Can you describe what steps you took to address your experiences? How did you seek justice?
 - a. What approaches did you find helpful in addressing or resolving the problems you faced?

- 12. Some legal problems may be resolved by going to the police, while others are settled by lawyers and/or in court. Can you describe in general what your interactions with legal institutions or systems looked like? (e.g., police, courts, legal professionals)
 - a. Generally, how do you feel about the police? How do you feel about lawyers and/or courts?
 - b. Are you confident that you would be able to get help from the police if you needed it? How about from lawyers? Why or why not?
- 13. Did you encounter any barriers to addressing the legal problems you faced or accessing justice? If so, please describe these.
 - a. What was the nature of these barriers? (e.g. policies, rules, financial, interpersonal, geographic)
- 14. Did you resolve your problem through the formal legal system or a legal professional? Why or why not?
 - a. If so, how were you treated by these individuals or institutions?
 - b. Who did you get legal advice from?
 - c. How much did the legal professional you contacted (e.g. lawyer, paralegal, or law student) help you?
- 15. What would have made resolving your legal problems easier? Are there any tools or resources that would have improved your experience?
 - a. Thinking about your experiences, what supports (legal or otherwise) would have been helpful?

Impacts of Legal Problems

16. What is the current status of your legal problem[s]? How important {was/is} it for you to address this problem?

- 17. How have your experiences of legal challenges impacted you? (prompts: physical or mental health, healthcare use, social, family, or personal problems)
 - a. Have there been financial or economic impacts? Please describe. (prompts: fees, borrow money, job, housing, El/benefits)
 - b. How did your experiences make you feel?

Conclusion

- 18. As you will remember, we wanted to interview you to generate evidence on the serious legal problems faced by LGBTQ2+ people in Canada to inform the work of the Department of Justice and make Canada's justice system more fair and accessible. In thinking about this, is there anything else you would want the Department of Justice or other decision makers (e.g., lawyers, community organizations) to know?
 - a. Was there anything that we didn't ask you that you thought we would? Do you have any other comments, questions or feedback?